
 

Democratic Services 
Swyddfa’r Cyngor 

CAERNARFON 
Gwynedd 
LL55 1SH 

 

 

 

www.gwynedd.gov.uk 
 

 

  
 

Meeting 
 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 

 

 
Date and Time 

 
10.00 am, THURSDAY, 17TH SEPTEMBER, 2015 

 

 
 

 
Location 

 
Siambr Hywel Dda, Council Offices, Caernarfon, Gwynedd. LL55 1SH 

 
 

 

 

Contact Point 

Lowri Haf Evans  01286 679 878 

lowrihafevans@gwynedd.gov.uk 

 

(DISTRIBUTED 10.09.2015 ) 



 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MEMBERSHIP (18) 
 

Plaid Cymru (8) 
 

Councillors 
 

Craig ab Iago Annwen Daniels Annwen Hughes 
Dilwyn Morgan W. Tudor Owen E. Caerwyn Roberts 

Eurig Wyn Linda Morgan  

 

Independent (4) 
 

Councillors 
 

Eric M. Jones Nigel Pickavance 
Angela Russell Mike Stevens 

 

Llais Gwynedd (3) 
 

Councillors 
 

Llywarch Bowen Jones Robert J. Wright 

Vacant Seat 
 

Labour (1) 
 

Councillor Glyn Thomas 

 

Liberal Democrats (1) 
 

Councillor Stephen W. Churchman 

 
Individual Member (1) 

 
Councillor Louise Hughes 

 

Aelodau Ex-officio / Ex-officio Members 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council  

 



 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   APOLOGIES 
 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
 

2.   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declaration of personal interest 

 
 

3.   URGENT ITEMS 
 

 

 To note any items that are a matter of urgency in the view of the Chairman 
for consideration. 

 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

1 - 6 

 The Chairman shall propose that the minutes of the meeting of this 
Committee, held on 21.5.2015 be signed as a true record.   

 

 

5.   CARTREFI CYMUNEDOL GWYNEDD 
 

7 - 36 

 To consider the Annual Report of Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd 

 
 

6.   ON STREET ENFORCEMENT 
 

37 

 Cabinet Member: Councillor John Wynn Jones 
 

a) Present a scoping summary for a Scrutiny Investigation 
 

b) Nomination of members to serve on the Investigation 

 

 

7.   PLANNING AND THE WELSH LANGUAGE 
 

38 - 39 

 Consider the report of the Senior Manager – Democracy and Delivery 

 
 

8.   HOMELESSNESS SCRUTINY INVESTIGATION PROPOSALS 
 

40 - 101 

 Cabinet Member: Councillor Ioan Thomas 
 
Consider the Scrutiny Investigation Group Report 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 21.05.2015 

 1 
 

 
COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 21.05.2015 

 
PRESENT   -    
               
Councillors:- Stephen Churchman, Annwen Daniels, Annwen Hughes, Louise Hughes, Eric M. 
Jones, Dilwyn Morgan, W. Tudor Owen,  Caerwyn Roberts, Angela Russell, Robert J. Wright. 
 
OFFICERS: Arwel Ellis Jones (Senior Manager – Democracy and Delivery), Lowri Haf Evans 
(Member Support and Scrutiny Officer). 
 
ALSO PRESENT:  
 
i)  In relation to items 7 and 8 on the agenda – Councillor John Wynn Jones - Cabinet Member 
 for the Environment and Mr Gwyn Morris Jones (Head of Highways and Municipal 
 Department)  
 
ii) In relation to item 9 on the agenda – Councillor Dafydd Meurig – Cabinet Member for 
 Planning and Regulatory, Dafydd Wyn Williams (Head of Regulatory Department), John 
 Reynolds (Senior Public Protection Manager) and Alun Evans – Public Protection Manager – 
 Welfare   
 
iii)  In relation to item 10 on the agenda – Councillor Dafydd Meurig – Cabinet Member for 
 Planning and Regulatory, Dafydd Wyn Williams (Head of Regulatory Department) and  
 Gareth Jones (Senior Manager – Planning and Environmental) 
iv) In relation to item 11 on the agenda – Councillor Roy Owen (one of the Council’s 
 representatives on the North Wales Fire and Rescue Service) 
 

 
1. ELECTION OF CHAIR  

 
RESOLVED to elect Councillor Angela Russell as Chair of this Scrutiny Committee for 
2015/16. 
 

2. VICE-CHAIR 
 

RESOLVED to elect Councillor Caerwyn Roberts as Vice-chair of this Scrutiny 
Committee for 2015/16. 

 
4. APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies were received from Councillors Llywarch Bowen Jones, Linda Morgan and Mike 
Stevens along with Councillor Gethin Glyn Williams who was not a member of this Committee 
for item 11. 
 

5. DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 
 
No declarations of personal interest were received from any members present. 
 

6. URGENT ITEMS 
 
None to note 
 

7. MINUTES 
 



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 21.05.2015 

 2 
 

The minutes of the previous meeting of this committee, held on 24 February 2015, were 
accepted as a true record of the meeting.  
 

7.      EFFICIENCY SAVINGS 2015 - 2016 – STREET LIGHTING 
 
a)  Submitted – a report by the Cabinet Member highlighting the Cabinet’s requirements for the 
 Communities Scrutiny Committee to consider more broadly the efficiency savings scheme of 
 the Highways and Municipal Department of a new procedure for replacing street lamps.  

The observations of the Scrutiny Committee would be referred to the Cabinet for it to make a 
final decision.  

 
The bulk changing system meant that the Council was changing lamps every three years in 
one street or one area, despite some lamps not appearing in need of replacement. As a 
result of recent developments in lighting technology, where the operational life of lamps such 
as LED was extending over more years, it replaced the need for a bulk changing system. 
Consequently, the bulk changing system at three yearly cycles could be abolished and it was 
anticipated that this could ensure annual savings of £97,000 to the Council in street lighting 
maintenance costs. In addition, by introducing LED lamps with a switchgear to enable 
dimming it would extend the lifespan of the lantern even more. This would also reduce 
energy costs and carbon emissions. 
 

b) In response, the following observations were made: 
- The principle was welcomed but assurance that the lighting would be sufficient was 

required. 
- It must be ensured that there would be no impact on public protection. 
- The lifespan of the new lamps from 7 – 10 years was accurate and realistic. 
- The need to consider that different wards had different requirements. The change had 

already been welcomed in some communities. 
- There was a need to hold discussions with the community councils in terms of suggesting 

ideas and arrangements to switch off the lights. 
- What would happen to the electricians as the lamps would not need to be changed as 

often? 
- How did the scheme comply with the creation of a dark sky status? 

 
   c) In response to the observations it was noted that the Council had 17 thousand lamps and 

 that the scheme meant replacing 10 thousand of them with LED technology (1 thousand of 
 them partly – night). It was highlighted that the Cabinet had agreed for the Department to use 

£1.4m of investment funding to save the Council from having to undertake the work for the 
reason that the new LED lamps would offer 260k of energy savings. Additionally, it was 
noted that creating a dimming effect and using LED was complying with the dark sky 
scheme, that the new lights would throw light downwards rather than upwards and to the 
side; that dimming would be trialled in some wards between 10pm and 6am. In terms of 
undertaking the change, it was highlighted that one less electrician would be required for bulk 
changes and that one additional electrician would be required for a period of three years for 
the LED changes. After four years, the number of electricians would need to be rationalised 
although a scheme would need to be in place by then to introduce suitable lamps for roads 
and junctions. 
 

ch)   In terms of safeguarding the community, the Council would have to get accustomed to the 
lights prior to any opinion being reached on whether a change to the appearance of the lights 
was dangerous. Standards would have to be maintained in terms of protecting the public, 
therefore, the Department’s attention had to be drawn to any cause for concern. 
 

 
RESOLVED TO ACCEPT THE REPORT. 
 



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 21.05.2015 

 3 
 

 
The Scrutiny Committee was satisfied with the saving and that it improved the experience for 
Gwynedd residents on the condition that: 

i)  the Department monitored the output scale of the lights in terms of public safety,»« 
ii)  and hold discussions with Community Councils in the context of part night operation if 
 relevant. 

 
9. USE OF STREET ENFORCEMENT RIGHTS 
 

a) It was reported that the Communities Scrutiny Committee, while discussing their work 
 programme for the year in the annual workshop, had prioritised a scrutiny investigation into 
 the Council’s planning arrangements and that any other scrutiny investigation would have to 
 be undertaken after that investigation had been completed. However, it was noted that the 

 Cabinet Member and the Highways and Municipal Department had proposed the need for a 
 scrutiny investigation into the use of enforcement rights. 
 

 Members were asked to decide, 
 -   whether there was a need to investigate the field 
 -   how long they would be willing to wait before taking action 

-   to examine the field earlier and accept an initial discussion regarding opportunities and 
     possibilities. 

 
b)  Submitted – a report by Councillor John Wynn Jones proposing initial suggestions to 

 establish terms of reference to carry out a scrutiny investigation into the Street 
 Enforcement field during 2015/16. It was highlighted that the responsibilities of Gwynedd 
 Council’s Streetscene Service extended to awareness raising and public education on 
 ensuring a clean and safe environment, monitoring street cleansing performance, managing 
dogs, rubbish, graffiti and posters, fly-tipping, introducing waste, traders’ waste, waste 
transfer and duty of care. 

 

 It was reported that the enforcement field was in need of consideration by the Council 
 regarding how to move forward and how to get the best for those who try and seek control. It 
 was noted that street enforcement matters, particularly the control of dog fouling, were of 
 great importance to taxpayers and that how to get the best out of managing the service 
 effectively should be addressed. The department’s willingness to provide a general opinion 
 on the situation and to seek modern suggestions on how to deal with street enforcement 
 matters was also noted. 
 

 It was highlighted that responding to the matters had been challenging with scarce resources 
 to maintain a very broad field in a period of cuts and efficiency savings.  As a result, it was 
 suggested that the matter proposed itself to be scrutinised and that new ideas should be 
 considered (compare with other authorities and collaborate on a regional level to try to 
 introduce services) and not scrutinise the work of the Council alone. 

 
c) In response to the observations it was noted that,  

 
-   there was a lack of dog fouling bins in areas where the problem was most prominent 
-   clear and specific training and publicity were required 
-   there was a need to highlight the use of the multi-purpose green bin 
-   confirmation of service arrangements was required – who was collecting? Who installs the   
     bins?  
-   there was a request to consider a more effective collaboration with community councils. 
 

RESOLVED TO RESPOND TO THE REQUEST OF THE CABINET MEMBER AND THE 
HEAD OF HIGHWAYS AND MUNICIPAL DEPARTMENT BY PRIORITISING A SCRUTINY 



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 21.05.2015 

 4 
 

INVESTIGATION INTO THE STREET ENFORCEMENT FIELD OVER THE PLANNING 
SYSTEM   

 
 
10. FOOD STANDARDS AGENCY FOCUSED AUDIT OF GWYNEDD COUNCIL'S 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR ENFORCEMENT OF THE FOOD SAFETY ACT 1990: 6th and 7th 
March 2014 - Update report 

 
a)  Councillor Dafydd Meurig provided a second update on the progress made by the Public 
 Protection Service in addressing the findings of the Focused Audit of the Food Standards 
 Agency (FSA). Members were reminded that an Action Plan had been prepared which 
 detailed how the service intended to correct the non-compliances. The action plan had 
 been accepted by the FSA during autumn 2014 and a Task and Finish Group had been 
 established to complete the work required. It was noted in the report that the action plan 
 detailed 13 areas for improvements. 
 

     b) It was highlighted that the Unit had now addressed the formal non-compliances identified 
 during the audit. It was also reported that the Council had a responsibility to ensure that we 
 met the requirements in relation to the Public Inquiry recommendations and the 
 enforcement of legislation in new businesses and that the recent efforts of the service should 
 continue. It was noted that the FSA had reported their intention to undertake a full audit of 
 the Food Unit’s activities in the near future. 
 

c)  The Cabinet Member was asked whether or not the FSA had provided observations on the 
 action plan or given their seal approval only. In response, it was noted that the FSA had 
 offered support for working arrangements and that improvements had been developed on a 
 joint basis – the service was confident that they were acceptable. It was reported that 
 amendments to working arrangements had been referred to the FSA, but no written 
 feedback had been received thus far. 
 
RESOLVED to welcome the update and the team was congratulated on its work in 
ensuring that the department’s internal arrangements complied with the 
recommendations of the Public Inquiry into the September 2015 outbreak of E-coli 0157 in 
south Wales, September 2005 and that all objectives had been achieved. 

 
 

11. SCRUTINY INVESTIGATION BRIEF – THE PLANNING SYSTEM 
 
a)  In light of the discussion held at the beginning of the meeting regarding giving priority to a 
    street enforcement scrutiny investigation, the Senior Manager – Democracy and Delivery 
    highlighted that the timescale of scrutiny investigations had now changed. Consequently, it  
    was suggested that members accepted the brief and offered observations. 

 

       b)  A request was submitted by the Cabinet Member to undertake a scrutiny investigation into 
   the Council’s planning system. A suggestion was made that it should be ensured that the 
   planning system corresponded with the needs of the county’s communities and give full 
   consideration to matters such as the economy when determining planning applications in 
   addition to other factors. It was also noted that this investigation was specifically relevant to 
   the Gwynedd Council Planning Authority Area only, as the Snowdonia National Park    
   Authority was the Planning Authority for the Park area.  
 

c) It was noted that officers of the Planning Department were satisfied with the brief. Members 
  were reminded that the planning system worked within a statutory framework and that the 
  framework of national and local policies must be understood. In addition, the need to look in  
  more detail at how the Council operated within that statutory system was welcomed. 
 



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 21.05.2015 

 5 
 

ch)   In response, the need to give the planning department a public face and raise public  
 awareness was highlighted. In terms of specifically investigating the Council’s planning 
 system only, it was noted that complications could arise if the National Park was included. 
 It was added that there was good collaboration between the planning departments of the 
 Park and the Council, but focus had to be placed on the Council’s planning department for 
 the investigation. It was noted that the Park was aware that the scrutiny investigation was 
 underway. It was also noted that statutory changes to the planning system were being 
 highlighted in the Welsh Government’s Planning Bill which proposed new arrangements to 
 simplify and reconcile the process across all Welsh Authorities. 
 

d) Matters arising from the discussion:  

 -   It must be ensured that the customer is the one getting justice - the system requires clarity 
-   Propose the need to ‘walk through the experience / the process’ by creating exemplary   
     scenarios, including the Community Council, as a starting point for the investigation. 
-   clear guidance on how to submit or respond to an application 
-   hold a training programme on the system for members  
-   consider the order of Planning Committees 
-   ensure consistency with the Planning Bill  
 

RESOLVED TO ACCEPT THE BRIEF and timetable the investigation into the work 
programme of the Scrutiny Committee for March 2016. 

 
12. ACCOUNTABILITY OF THE NORTH WALES FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

The Representatives of Gwynedd Council on the Fire Authority are; Councillor Roy 
Owen, Tudor Owen, Bob Wright, Gethin Glyn Williams and Chris Hughes 

 
a) Submitted – a report by the Head of Corporate Support Department to scrutinise the 

Council’s arrangements to challenge the effectiveness and accountability of the Fire 
Authority. It was noted that the Fire Authority had the right to set a precept on the councils 
of north Wales in order to pay for the service. This precept counted against the Council’s 
expenditure.  It was explained that this was different to the precept of the Police Authority 
which was allowed to raise a separate precept. As an example, the Fire Authority’s precept 
on Gwynedd Council in 2015/16 was highlighted as £5,603,000. Therefore, every increase 
of 1% would mean a further £56,030 that the Council would have to find in cuts or tax 
increases. 
 

b) In terms of challenging the effectiveness of the Fire Service, like every other service 
within the Council, there was a need to consider whether there were opportunities to be 
more  efficient. However, for the Fire Service, we did not have the opportunity as a Council 
and therefore we had to entrust our representatives on the Authority to ensure that this    
happened. Consequently, the Council’s representatives on the Authority had been invited to 
this Committee in order to make an initial assessment of what information they had about 
whether the service was efficient and what evidence they had to support this. The Council’s   
representatives were questioned on: 

 

 - The Authority’s plans to seek a further increase in the precept in the coming years and the 
   implications of that for the Council’s own services; 

 - The Fire Authority’s own arrangements for challenging the efficiency of the Service and the 
   evidence that it is as efficient as it can be; 

 - The Authority’s willingness to look at other similar areas spending less to assess whether 
   there are lessons to be learnt from them; 

 - The extent to which further efficiency ideas are being considered;  

 - The role of individual members from the Council in scrutinising and ensuring accountability 
   for the Authority’s arrangements and the extent to which they are able to fulfil those roles. 

 



COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 21.05.2015 

 6 
 

c) In response, the representatives highlighted that a number of options were being proposed 
  in terms of improving the efficiency of the Fire Service and that Gwynedd representatives  
  were not supportive of accepting a further increase on the precept. It was noted that a   
  Scrutiny Sub-committee had been established within the Fire Service to ensure fairness 
  when discussing options. It was highlighted that the discussion of the Sub-committee would 
  be referred to the Operational Panel and then to the Principal Committee. In terms of   
  support for the role of members, it was noted that the representatives were contacting the 
  Finance Department to obtain information regarding financial matters. It was added that the 
  Fire Service was now responding to requests for information. The representatives would like 
  to see the Fire Service’s finance duties shared (Conwy currently administrated them). The 
  main aim of the representatives was to protect Gwynedd and rural services in particular. 
 

ch)   In addition, the Senior Manager – Democracy and Delivery highlighted that the Council’s 
Chief Executive had received a letter noting the presence of the representatives at the 
Authority’s meetings. Concern was expressed regarding the presence of one Gwynedd 
representative. 
 

RESOLVED 
 
i) To express the Committee’s satisfaction with how Council representatives have 
challenged issues on the Fire Authority thus far and encourage them to continue to do so; 

 
ii) To recommend that the Fire Authority makes a request to the Government to allow a 
different system of increasing the Fire Authority’s precept which would not have such an 
impact on individual councils’ decisions on tax and expenditure on their own services. 

 
iii) To recommend that the Plaid Cymru Leader ensures the presence of one Plaid Cymru 
representative on the Fire Authority is improved. 

 
 

The meeting commenced at 10:00am and concluded at 12:30pm. 
 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

1 
 

CARTREFI CYMUNEDOL GWYNEDD’s (CCG’s) ANNUAL REPORT (2014/15) TO 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL 

Report for Information and discussion 

Date 17th September, 2015 

Item  Paper  

Author Ffrancon Williams, Chief Executive 

Purpose  
 

To present CCG’s annual report to Gwynedd Council’s 
Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Financial 
implications  

Not applicable 

Risk 
management  

Low  

Appendices  None 

 
1.0 Introduction 

 
1.1 As noted in the Transfer Agreement, CCG is required to submit an annual report to the 

Council as to how it is implementing the promises made to tenants in the Offer 
Document and obligations under the Agreement. 
 

1.2 This report serves this purpose, and covers CCG’s fifth year of operation from 1st April 
2014 to 31st March 2015. 
 

2.0 Scope 
 

2.1 The scope of the report covers the following areas: 
 

1. Delivery of offer document promises 
2. Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) and associated investment works  
3. Consultation arrangements with tenants and leaseholders 
4. Obligations under the Agreement (Nomination and Housing Agency 

Agreements, Service Level Agreements and Housing Benefit Protocol) 
5. Elected Members’ protocol 
6. Partnership working on strategically important housing items 
7. Other operational matters 

 
Most of the above points are discussed in detail at regular monitoring meetings with 
the Council held every quarter. Consequently, this report is not intended to repeat the 
level of detail previously presented, but rather to summarise key successes in the 
period and highlight areas of activity that did not go quite as well as was hoped and 
inform members of challenges faced in the coming year.  
  

3.0 Delivery of offer document promises 
 

3.1 
 
 
 
 

167 (98.8%) of the promises within the Offer Document to tenants “Your Home, Your 
Choice” had been successfully delivered, as at end of March 2015. 
 
Two promises were outstanding. The first relates to the overall completion of the 
WHQS improvement programme – Council officers are aware of the slippage in the 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

programme relating to some sheltered properties and non-traditional properties, and 
that action plans are in place to ensure completion of the programme by the end of 
September. The second relates to completing responsive repairs at first visit to the 
property, this is subject to close monitoring to ensure the promise is delivered as soon 
as possible. 
 

3.2 Key successes: 
 

1. The continued partnership working with CCG’s Service Providers ensured that 
the progress on achieving WHQS remained on course. At 31 March 2015 the 
number of compliant elements since transfer were as follows: 
 

 Kitchens - 5,360 

 Bathrooms - 5,408 

 Heating - 5,731 

 Electrics - 5,358 

 Windows - 6,246 

 Doors - 6,003 
 

2. During the latter part of 2014/15, the main WHQS investment contracts have 
been in the demobilisation stages which mean that contracts have slowly been 
brought to an end with contractors and staff moving on to other contracts. 
During the same period, CCG restructured the Assets and Investments 
directorate to reflect the reduction in major works being managed through the 
department. Despite this, CCG managed contracts through to a successful 
conclusion as well as starting the procurement process for the next tranche of 
investment work covering the period 2015–2020. 

 
3. The WHQS improvement programme continued to provide local economic 

benefits. At the end of March 2015, a total of 257 staff were employed on the 
WHQS improvement programme across Service Providers, with 248 (96%) from 
the North Wales area, 169 (66%) from Gwynedd. The Targeted Recruitment & 
Training Unit continued to work with the contractors to ensure that 24 trainees 
including 16 apprentices were engaged on the programme as at March 2015. 
Our Service Providers’ commitment to develop and retain staff also ensured 
that 8 newly qualified apprentices were also working on the WHQS 
improvement programme as of March 2015.  As work streams and the WHQS 
improvement programme draws to a close, Service Providers’ staffing levels 
have decreased and as a consequence so have the apprenticeship and 
traineeship figures. 
 

4. CCG previously received national recognition for the unique procurement model 
developed as a part of the WHQS investment programme and were winners of 
the Association of Consultant Architects (ACA) annual Innovation and 
Partnering award (2013), and the Outstanding Contribution award in the Wales 
National Procurement Awards (2014). CCG have subsequently been praised for 
the way local businesses and local people have benefited from the jobs and 
apprenticeships created and received the Community Benefit award in the 2015 
Wales National Procurement Awards. 
 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

3 
 

5. All CCG’s service providers continued to buy into the concept of putting 
something tangible back into the community with in excess of 100 community 
benefit schemes having been provided by them as at the end of June 2015 
totalling a value in excess of £100K. 
 

6. CCG’s Asset & Investment Directorate successfully piloted a work placement 
scheme during the summer of 2014 financed from Community Investment 
contributions from our WHQS Service Providers. The ‘Building Experience’ 
scheme offered four Coleg Menai students, undertaking the Construction & Built 
Environment courses, 5 weeks paid work experience within various teams in the 
directorate. This gave them hands-on experience of working within the housing 
and construction sector. Two of the students were offered full time posts with 
two external consultants as a direct consequence of being involved on the 
scheme. The ‘Building Experience’ scheme will run again in July 2015. 
 

7. Following the re-structure of the Repairs & Maintenance (R&M) service in 
October 2013 and the filling of posts by January 2014, the service concentrated 
during the year on reviewing all areas of service delivery and improving 
performance paying particular attention to the risk areas to the business such 
as reducing the void turnaround periods, addressing hazards brought to our 
attention under the Housing, Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) and 
Housing Disrepair cases. The R&M service also dealt with the severe storm 
damage incurred to our stock during the last quarter of 2013/14 with over 3600 
additional inspections and 2100 repairs carried out in 2014/15.   
 

8. CCG successfully upgraded its mobile solution for the workforce; Repair 
requests are now delivered to tablet devices which also provide the workforce 
with full access to emails and the company intranet improving efficiency and 
communication. 
 

9. A Business Continuity plan was put in place which was tested successfully with 
very little disruption to our services for our customers. 

 
10. During 2014/15, CCG’s Community Investment Fund awarded grants 

amounting to £254,601 supporting 50 community groups and organisations to 
develop various projects in the Gwynedd area. This helped the organisations 
secure further investment through ‘match funding’ totaling £2,680,301 during 
the year.  Since its inception and up to March 2015 a total of 180 community 
projects have benefited from grants totaling £975,699 awarded through CCG’s 
Community Investment Fund with additional investment in excess of £5.6M 
having been secured through “match funding”.  
 

11. Fire Risk Assessments (FRA’s) were undertaken on all our flats and sheltered 
housing units during 2013/14 and a programme of work was then agreed to 
improve fire safety within them. This included work to move toward a “Safe to 
Stay” rather than a full evacuation policy in certain accommodation blocks.  The 
FRA programme of work has progressed well during the year with the majority 
of the recommended actions having been completed in the year with the whole 
project expected to complete by September 2015. As part of the work, bike 
sheds have been put in place so that tenants in flats have space to store items 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

4 
 

such as bikes and pushchairs, thus making communal areas safer. During the 
year, CCG was also awarded a Community Safety Award as part of North 
Wales Fire and Rescue Service’s Awards as a result of our collaborative work in 
the community on fire safety.   
 

12. In May 2014 CCG’s board agreed an ambitious Development Strategy to build 
over 200 affordable homes over the next 5 years. Steady progress is being 
made in achieving this target with all preparatory work completed within the 
year to build 18 new affordable housing units. All these units attracted either 
Social Housing Grant or Smaller Properties Grant and building work should be 
complete by the end of March 2016. They are spread across 3 sites: Tan y Bryn 
and Ty Gegin, which are on the Maesgeirchen estate in Bangor and in Lôn 
Abererch in Pwllheli.  
 

13. During the year, CCG achieved OHSAS 18001, ISO9001 and ISO14001 
accreditation for our Health and Safety, Quality and Environment management 
systems, respectively. This was the culmination of 2 years hard work by CCG’s 
management team and staff and has proved to be an important step for the 
business. CCG will now be routinely monitored twice a year by the accreditation 
body, Lloyds Register Quality Assurance (LRQA) with the first follow up 
assessment scheduled for August 2015.  
 

14. CCG introduced its first Safeguarding policy.  This policy applies to all 
vulnerable groups that CCG staff have contact with during the course of their 
work.  In introducing this policy, CCG improved and documented internal 
processes and created a safeguarding fact sheet for tenants.  A responsibility 
matrix has been developed and all relevant managers and staff have been 
trained to the appropriate level - including how to report concerns. 
 

15. During the year, CCG continued to improve the information held about its 
tenants so as to enable more effective targeting of our services to take place. A 
review of the data required was carried out and gaps in our existing data were 
identified and a data cleansing exercise also took place. This will be a continued 
area of focus during 2015/16 in order to support the delivery of our 2015-2020 
Corporate Plan. 
 

16. CCG continued to build upon our suite of strategic and operational policies and 
procedures; key strategies developed or reviewed during the year included the 
Communication, Procurement, Value for Money and Land Management 
Strategies. 
 

17. CCG successfully recruited two new Directors to its Executive Management 
Team (EMT). The Director of Resources and Director of Assets and 
Infrastructure commenced employment with CCG on 1st June 2015.  Their 
recruitment significantly reduces the risk to the business having run with a 
depleted EMT for several months. 
 

18. CCG continued to mainstream Equality and Diversity throughout the 
organisation. CCG are working in partnership with the North Wales Registered 
Landlord Equality Partnership (NWREP) to ensure best practice and 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

5 
 

performance benchmarking and with Tai Pawb, who promote Equality and 
Diversity within the housing sector in Wales. 
 

19. CCG successfully introduced a Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS) in 
June 2014 for auto enrolment purposes. Both the employer and employee 
contributions are significantly less in the SHPS than in the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS). However, staff have the option to opt out of the 
scheme should they wish to, and join the LGPS.  This gives staff a choice as to 
which is the best option for them depending on their personal circumstances, 
whilst also protecting CCG’s financial position for the future.  
 

20. CCG held it’s largest ever staff day at Pritchard Jones Hall, Bangor University. 
Around 250 employees attended and took part in workshops. There was also a 
session on developing CCG’s 2015-2020 Corporate Plan where staff were 
given the opportunity to have their say regarding what they felt CCG’s priorities 
should be for the next five years. Comments were fed into the process of 
developing the new corporate plan. 
 

21. During the year and in consultation with tenants, managers and staff, the Board 
developed a new Corporate Plan for the business covering the period 2015-
2020. This is available for members to view on CCG’s website. The exercise 
provided the Board with an opportunity to reflect on the achievements of the first 
five years, and to look forward to the future. In doing so, the organisation’s 
Vision and Values were reviewed. The new, revised Vision for CCG is: 
 
To be a leading provider of quality housing – meeting the needs of 
customers, valuing communities  
 
This is supported by the new core values, as follows: 

 

 Fair – Make consistent and objective decisions which promote equality 
and respect diversity 

 Accountable – Be effective and take responsibility for the decisions we 
make and the things we do 

 Open – Be honest and transparent in everything we do   

 Innovative – Be ambitious and open to new ideas and new ways of 
working 

 Approachable - Be accessible and easy to work with at all times 
 
The 2015/20 Corporate Plan sets out the strategy for CCG for the next 5 years, 
and determines: 
 

 the priorities for the Board and staff to deliver,  

 what we invest our time and resources in delivering, and  

 the framework governing our decisions and monitoring our progress. 
 

The Plan includes a set of four key themes and goals; 
 

 Customers – We will aim to meet the needs of our customers and 
encourage their involvement in shaping how services are designed and 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

6 
 

delivered 

 Development and Growth – Grow as a business to ensure our long term 
viability 

 Assets – Manage our assets to sustain their value and maximise income 
and ensure they meet our customers’ needs 

 Sustainable Communities – Promoting sustainable communities by 
working in partnership to deliver effective services 
   

These themes and goals are supported by 14 detailed objectives, all 
underpinned by 6 guiding principles to facilitate their delivery. These are: 
 

 Finance and Governance 

 People and Technology 

 Communication 

 Partnership  

 Value for Money 

 Health, Safety, Quality and Environment (HSQE) 
 

3.3 Challenges in the year ahead: 
 

1. To complete all remaining WHQS works and to successfully procure and 
mobilise contracts in relation to the 2015-2020 investment program. 

2. To complete the rollout of our new residential fire management arrangements. 
3. To improve customer satisfaction. The fourth annual Tenant Satisfaction Survey 

was carried out in October 2014 with disappointing results. The findings 
highlighted a slight decrease in customer satisfaction with some services when 
compared to the previous year. Among the key messages were that 72% of 
respondents were satisfied with the quality of their home (compared with 53% in 
2011 + 74% in 2013), 88% (90% in 2013) believed that CCG were easy to 
contact and that the response was friendly, 80% (82% in 2013) were satisfied 
with the way CCG dealt with Rent and Service Charges.    

4. To implement CCG’s development strategy and achieve the challenging targets 
set for the provision of new affordable homes. This will be dependent on 
securing additional funding.  

5. To mitigate the financial impact of Welfare Reform measures on CCG as a 
business and to support our tenants through the changes including the 
implementation of Universal Credit, scheduled for the Autumn of 2015 for 
Gwynedd. 

6. To deliver on the objectives of the new 2015-2020 Corporate Plan and embed 
the new vision and values amongst all staff.  

7. To continue to embed CCG’s staff performance management system (Cynllun 
Llwyddo) and ensure individual objectives are linked to our new Corporate Plan. 

8. To maintain accreditation of the HSQE management system. 
9. To achieve improved performance in relation to our Repairs and Maintenance 

service and improve turnaround time and costs in relation to empty properties. 
10. To react to any further reductions in Supporting People Grant by considering, as 

appropriate, reducing the service and staffing levels that provide support to 
sustain our older and vulnerable tenants’ tenancies. 

11. To continue to work with Gwynedd Council’s Housing Options Team to improve 
services to prospective tenants and improve efficiencies in the letting of our 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

7 
 

homes. 
12. To recruit to key senior management posts including the Director of Customers 

and Communities. 
13. Developing a commercial aspect to CCG’s business and explore tendering 

opportunities to carry out work for other local organisations, but at the same 
time ensuring that this is not to the detriment of CCG’s customers. 

14. To extend CCG’s mobile working capabilities to other departments within the 
business and develop a framework to provide customer access to CCG’s 
services using digital technology. 

15. To reduce the costs of managing the turnover of tenancies by working with 
existing tenants who express an interest in moving by resolving tenancy issues 
thereby sustaining their tenancies, or to use Mutual Exchange to facilitate a 
move to a more appropriate property. 
 

4.0 Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) investment and associated investment 
works 
 

4.1 Members will recall that CCG has adopted an innovative procurement strategy 
whereby the total WHQS investment works was divided into two parts; approximately 
50-60% tendered under OJEU procurement rules likely to attract a main contractor to 
manage the works, and 40-50% tendered under more traditional “non-OJEU” 
arrangements likely to attract more local (SME) companies. All contracts incorporated 
principles of the i2i Can Do Toolkit for Targeted Recruitment and Training to maximise 
the benefit of this significant investment in housing to the local economy through the 
provision of new jobs, training opportunities and opportunities for local businesses in 
the delivery of the WHQS programme. 
 
In respect of the main contractor OJEU Tender, the Lovell Partnership was appointed 
for 50-60% of the work on Internal and External programmes with 40-50% given to the 
Trade Contractors. The Main WHQS programme has now largely been completed and 
CCG do consider that this procurement model has been very successful in delivering 
large scale refurbishment works and in engaging SME’s as Trade Contractors.  Of the 
original Trade Contractors appointed, GM Jones and Falconer completed the Internals, 
EWE and Gelli Civil Engineering the Externals and PH Jones the heating programmes. 
These Trade Contracts were labour only contracts with Symphony and Travis Perkins 
supplying CCG with kitchens and materials, respectively. 
 

4.2 The expenditure on investment works (excluding the CFU) for 2014/15 was £24.5m 
with an additional £3.3m spent on environmental improvements. 
 

4.3 Table 1 below sets out the commercial and contractual status for each of the various 
contract packages.  



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

8 
 

Table 1 : CCG’s Service Providers 
 

 
Task 

Activity 
Windows 
& Doors 

 
Fire 
Risk 

 

Main 
Internal 

Main 
External 

 
Non 

Trads 
Trade 

Internal 
Trade 

External 

 
Environ-
mental 

 

Supply 
Chain 

Tender Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete 

Board 

Approval 
Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete 

Signed 

Contract 
Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete 

Pilot Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete 

Main 

Contract 
Complete On Site Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete On Site 

(Symphony 
Complete) 

Completion Complete September 

2015 Complete Complete August 

2015 Complete July  2015 Complete July 2015 

Contractor Nationwide Nationwide Lovell  Lovell Lovell 

GM Jones 

Falconer  

PH Jones 

EW Evans 

Gelli 

G M Jones 

EW Evans 

Gelli 

GM Jones 

Travis 

Perkins 

Symphony 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

9 
 

 

4.4 Table 2 below indicates CCG’s compliance with the WHQS by component as at 31st 
March 2015. These are the figures presented to Welsh Government as part of their 
annual WHQS monitoring arrangements. Members will note compliance levels have 
increased compared to last year in line with the volume of work completed as part of 
the investment programme.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

10 
 

 Table 2 : Stock compliance with the WHQS by component, at 31st March 2015 

 

*=compliant properties includes any properties where a particular element of WHQS is not applicable and hence not assessed 

**= Figures subject to change pending receipt of on going improvement schemes and stock condition surveys. 

  Component Stock at 

31/03/15 

Fully compliant* 

stock for given 

component at 

31/03/15 

Compliant* stock 

for given 

component 

subject to 

acceptable fails 

at 31/03/15 

Non-compliant* 

stock for given 

component 

Percentage fully 

compliant*/ 

compliant* with 

acceptable fails 

for given 

component 

Expected year 

of full 

compliance for 

all stock for 

given 

component 

 

No Work 

required/ 

refusals 

 

Forecasted 

work 

 2015-16 

1 
Roofs & components 6,256 5,480 221 555 89% 2015 

 
221 

 
555 

2 
Windows 6,256 6,246 7 3 100% 2015  

 
7 

 
3 

3 External  
 doors 6,256 6,003 48 205 97% 2015 

 
48 

 
205 

4 
Kitchens 6,256 5,360 622 274 96% 2015 

 
622 

 
274 

5 
Bathrooms 6,256 5,408 584 264 96% 2015 

 
584 

 
264 

6 
SAP Rating  ≥ 65 6,256 3,500 213 2,543 60% 2015 

 
213** 

 
2,543** 

7 Central heating 
system 6,256 5,731 259 266 96% 2015 

 
259 

 
266 

8 
Electrical systems 6,256 5,358 557 341 95% 2015 

 
557 

 
341 

9 Mains smoke 
detectors 6,256 5,851 155 250 96% 2015 

 
155 

 
250 

10 
Gardens and external 
storage up to and 
including the boundary 
of the property 

6,256 4,507 615 1134 82% 2015 

 
 

615** 

 
 

1134** 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

11 
 

4.5 Key successes: 
 
1. Our Service Providers remained stable during the year delivering good 

volumes and performance. They were as follows: 
 

Contract 
 

Internals Externals Fencing / 
Paths 

Heating 

Main 
 

Lovell Lovell N/A N/A 

Trade GM Jones / 
Falconers 

EWE Gelli PH Jones 

Supply TP / 
Symphony 

Travis 
Perkins 

Travis 
Perkins 

Travis 
Perkins 

 
2. It is worth noting the following has been achieved in the 2014/15 financial year 

by CCG’s Service Providers: 
 

 WHQS spend for 2014/15 resulted in the following completions in the period: 
 

a. 370 Kitchens improved 
b. 361 Bathrooms Improved 
c. 165 Heating Installations 
d. 282 Rewires 

 

 At the 31st March 2015, 257 employees were engaged on the WHQS 
programme and of these employees: 

 
a. 248 (96%) live in North Wales  
b. 169 (66%) live in Gwynedd 
c. 182 (71%) are Welsh Speakers 
d. 24 were Trainees including 16 Apprentices 

 
3. There have now been over 100 separate Community Benefit Initiatives of 

varying degrees and value.  
 

4. Tenant Satisfaction levels with the WHQS works are high with over 99% of 
tenants being satisfied with works in 2014/15. 

 
4.6 Things that did not go quite so well:  

 
1. CCG have experienced significant problems dealing with different utility 

companies where their inflexible timescales have impacted and delayed the 
completion of some programmes of work. 

2. Work in some sheltered properties was slow to start due to a variety of 
reasons including the need to re-specify work specifications to ensure 
affordability within the constraints of CCG’s business plan.  

3. CCG have experienced difficulties where additional items of work are found to 
be required and added to projects; these result in an improved final product 
but have impacted costs and timescales.  

 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

12 
 

4.7 Challenges in the year ahead: 
 

1. To complete remaining WHQS works and to successfully procure and 
mobilise contracts in relation to the 2015-2020 investment program, 
estimated to be around £40M in value. 

2. Achieving CCG’s 2015/16 expenditure and output targets whilst ensuring 
tight control of the contracts to ensure they are delivered within the 
constraints of the business plan. 

3. Continue to implement CCG’s Land Management Strategy to ensure that 

all land is managed effectively, development sites are identified and 

liabilities are disposed of, or managed appropriately. 

4. To complete CCG’s first tranche of new affordable homes (18 units) within 
budget and within timescale. 

5. Carry out all required preparatory work including securing additional 
funding to achieve the challenging targets set for the provision of new 
affordable homes within CCG’s development strategy.  
 

5.0 Consultation arrangements with tenants and leaseholders 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Tenant and Resident consultation 
Throughout the year, staff and Board appointed Tenant Champions continued 
to promote involvement and improved communication between CCG and our 
customers. Towards the end of 2014/15, workshops were held to review the 
effectiveness of our involvement strategy to date, and measure which 
outcomes have been achieved and identify areas for further development. 

 
CCG continued to invest in the development of the consultative framework with 
Tenants and Residents through the following groups and forums;  
 

 The CCG Tenant and Resident Partnership  

 Quality Customer Service Forum  

 Community Benefit Forum  

 Communication Forum  

 Repairs and Maintenance Group  

 Local Tenant Participation Strategy Steering Group 

 Customer Panel 
 

Tenants were supported throughout the year in their role as Partnership and 
Forum members, with various training and networking opportunities provided 
throughout the year to develop skills and understanding to make them more 
effective in their roles as tenant representatives. 
 
During 2014/15, the Tenant and Resident Partnership established their own 
Facebook Page, as a means of promoting participation amongst tenants 
through social media. The Partnership also increased their presence in the 
community through accompanying staff on estate visits, having stalls at CCG 
led events and by writing articles for the tenant newsletter, CCG News. 

 
2. Consulting with Leaseholders 

CCG continued to develop its relationship with its Leaseholders.  During the 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

13 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

year affected Leaseholders have received estimates of their contributions to 
the costs of major works to their blocks.  CCG has held events and improved 
communication with those Leaseholders to answer their queries regarding the 
works and to explain how the cost estimates have been calculated.  During 
2015/16 CCG will need to continue this work so that the Leaseholders’ share 
of the costs can be recovered in accordance with the terms of their leases. 

 
3. Mobile Surgeries  

Over the last 12 months the “take up” of the mobile surgeries held by our 
Neighbourhood Wardens has diminished, even though they were well 
advertised. This resulted in ineffective warden time and the mobile surgeries 
have now been withdrawn.  The service found encouraging tenants to phone 
to request a visit or return a phone call to be better appreciated.  This has also 
released warden time to carry out weekly checks of properties for insurance 
purposes and essential checks of communal areas as part of our fire 
management arrangements.  
 

4. Shareholders  
The number of shareholders at the end of March 2015 stood at 48. All tenants 
are still able to apply to become a shareholder at any time, with all 
applications being considered by the Board in line with the Rules.  

 
Continued attempts were made to increase the number of shareholders during 
the year, with various community events attended where tailored literature 
detailing the benefits of becoming a shareholder were distributed. 

 
5.2 Key successes:  

 
1. Tenants Newsletter 

CCG achieved the Best Tenant Newsletter award during Community Housing 
Cymru’s (CHC) PR awards. 
 

2. CCG Summer estate walkabouts 
The Community Involvement team arranged a series of visits to CCG estates 
in the Summer of 2014. The primary purpose of the visits was to consult on 
plans to carry out environmental improvements to estates through the Welsh 
Housing Quality Standard. Staff visited tenants and residents in Nefyn, 
Pwllheli, Chwilog and Pencaenewydd. It was a valuable opportunity to meet 
tenants and residents in their community, and meant CCG was more visible on 
estates. 
 

3. Local Tenant Participation Strategy 2012-15 
Good progress was made against the strategy during 2014/15. Tenant 
Champions continued to promote better communication between CCG and our 
customers and attended community events such as tenant fun days. Another 
key part of the role was to ensure that tenants' views were considered as 
policies, processes and documents were developed.  

 
Work also began on developing a new participation framework to increase the 
number of tenants and residents who engage with us and to increase 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

14 
 

representation. This project will gather speed in 2015/16 with the aim of 
implementing the new framework early in 2016. 

 
4. Community Projects 

 
4.1 CCG Ffwtcamp  
A 'Ffwtcamp' project was undertaken for the second time in April and May of 
2014. Ffwtcamp’s aim is to encourage young people between 11 and 14 years 
on some of our less privileged estates to get off the streets and to take part in 
an initiative to encourage them to keep fit and to take pride in their 
communities. Four teams from Caernarfon, Llanberis, Bangor and Pwllheli 
came together for a period of about six weeks leading up to a football final 
competition at Caernarfon under the supervision of CCG Neighborhood 
Wardens. 

 
4.2 CCG Junior Warden Scheme 
CCG ran the Junior Wardens Scheme again over the summer. This was the 
fourth year for the scheme to be carried out, and children from Bangor, 
Dolgellau, Nefyn and Llanaelhaearn had the opportunity to participate. The 
children who were in year 5 in primary school, worked for 6 weeks with the 
Neighborhood Wardens in their areas to understand more about their work and 
work towards the scheme’s aims  which is to reduce anti-social behavior by 
encouraging children to participate in their communities and be proud of where 
they live and play. 
 
4.3 Building Experience (“Adeiladu Profiad”) 
For the first time CCG ran the Building Experience programme in conjunction 
with Coleg Menai. The project was launched on the CCG stand at the Urdd 
National Eisteddfod in Bala. This is a bursary towards education and 
professional development and includes a six week paid work placement with 
CCG. Four students participated in 2014/15. 
 

5.3 Challenges in the year ahead: 
 
The development of a new Tenant Participation Strategy for 2015-2018 is one of the 
main pieces of work for the Tenant and Residents Partnership and the Community 
Involvement Team over the next year. As part of this work, a review will be 
conducted to examine the effectiveness of the current consultation framework and 
look at how it could be developed for the future. Encouraging new tenants to 
participate and developing new methods of participation remains one of the major 
challenges for the service over the coming year. 
 

6.0 Obligations under the Agreement (Nomination and Housing Agency 
Agreements, Service Level Agreements and Housing Benefit Protocol) 
 

6.1 Common Housing Register Partnership 
 

 
 
 

The Gwynedd Common Housing Register was implemented on the 10th September 
2012, the arrangements under this Partnership Agreement replaced the Nomination 
and Housing Agency Agreement.  The Housing Options Team within Gwynedd 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

15 
 

 
 
 

6.1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.1.2 
 

Council is now responsible for managing the Common Housing Register in 
accordance with the Common Allocations Policy.   
 
Key successes: 
 

 CCG worked with the Housing Options Team to allocate 549 of CCG’s homes 
during 2014/15 

 Good working relationships have been maintained with other Housing 
Associations 

 A new Service Level Agreement was agreed and signed by all parties and the 
Information Sharing Protocol is also now in place. 
 

Things that did not go quite so well: 
 

 Due to constraints of the Common Allocations Policy CCG,  was unable to 
influence the transfer of tenants who were in breach of their tenancy 
agreement, for example where they have not looked after their previous home 
or where they were in rent arrears 

 The IT link to the Council (Citrix) was unreliable at times and communication 
about the availability of the link was poor. This affects CCG’s officers’ ability to 
view information on applicants for housing. 

 The Gwynedd Common Housing Register  Steering Group did not meet 
regularly resulting in delays in completing agreed work e.g. measuring 
outcomes, changes to the application form, production of information leaflets 
for applicants, and changes to the Common Allocations Policy 

 The quality of short-lists of prospective tenants received from the Housing 
Options Team has been poor in some areas, in particular the Meirionnydd 
area.  Homes previously considered to be in high demand are now more 
difficult to let.  It is thought the under occupancy charge and lack of promotion 
to Gwynedd residents of who could be eligible for social housing could be 
contributing to this trend. 

 
6.1.3 Challenges in the year ahead: 

 
1. Working with the Partnership to  improve the effectiveness and efficiency of 

the Housing Options Team’s service  
2. Understand the impact of planned changes to Welfare Benefits on the ability 

of prospective tenants to afford CCG’s tenancies, and work to mitigate this 
effect on our ability to allocate our homes 

3. Agree changes to the Common Allocations Policy to deal with Statutory 
changes e.g. Housing (Wales) Act 2014 and resolve identified problems 

4. Implementing the new performance management arrangements noted in the 
new Service Level Agreement. 

 
6.2 Service Level Agreements 

 
 The following Service Level Agreements (SLA’s) were entered into between CCG 

and the Council at point of transfer (12/04/10): 
 

1. Grounds Maintenance Services  



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

16 
 

2. ICT support (Wide Area Network provision and support and Application 
Support – Geographical Information System (GIS)) 

3. Legal Services  
4. Pest Control Services  
5. Payroll Services  
6. Highway Safety Inspections Service on Unadopted Highways  
7. Fleet Maintenance Service 
8. Environmental Health Inspection Services  
9. Drainage Services  
10. Cleaning Services  
11. Closed Circuit Television System (CCTV) Services  
12. Street Lighting Services  
13. Community Warden Service  

 
A position statement for each of the SLA’s is given below: 
 

1. Grounds Maintenance Services – the contract was extended for a further 12 
month period, until April 2016 with the same management arrangements being 
kept in place, as a result of the satisfactory level of performance within the 
contract. An open OJEU procurement process will take place in the Autumn of 
2015, with the new contract targeted to commence in April 2016. 

2. ICT support (Wide Area Network provision and support and Application 
Support – Geographical Information System (GIS)) - Improved account 
management and alerts have been put in place to monitor the performance of 
ICT links between the Council and CCG 

3. Legal Services – during 2013 the decision was taken to bring Legal Services 
in house and as a result, 2 members of staff transferred from Gwynedd 
Council to CCG in October of that year. Since the termination of the SLA, 
Gwynedd Council’s legal department have continued to provide legal services 
on some matters including Right to Buys and an agreement is in place to 
provide a level of cover for absences etc. 

4. Pest Control Services – SLA in place for Gwynedd Council to deliver the 
service until April 2016. 

5. Payroll Services– Gwynedd Council awarded the service following an open 
tender process to deliver the service until April 2016. 

6. Highway Safety Inspections Service on Unadopted Highways – the service 
continues to be delivered in-house by CCG. 

7. Fleet Maintenance Service –service re-tendered via an OJEU process, and 
SHB Vehicle Hire and Management were awarded the contract which 
commenced in June 2014 for an initial 3 year period.  Gwynedd Council 
assisted CCG greatly during the handover period.    

8. Environmental Health Inspection Services – services no longer required as a 
result of Common Housing Register now being run by Gwynedd Council. 

9. Drainage Services - SLA agreed for Gwynedd Council to provide the service 
to April 2016, with enhanced Client Management arrangements put in place. 
Future procurement options are currently under consideration, with updates 
being provided to Gwynedd Council as part of the regular contract 
management meetings. 

10. Cleaning Services - the Communal Area Cleaning contract was awarded to 
Gwynedd Council for Dwyfor and Meirionydd areas and to SuperClean for 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

17 
 

Bangor and Arfon areas; all contractors are performing well with the contract 
monitoring meetings adding value. Consideration will be given to adding office 
cleaning and communal area checks to the contract when it is next offered to 
the market in June 2016. 

11. Closed Circuit Television System (CCTV) Services – Service provided by 
Gwynedd Council under this contract has improved during the year with 
cameras being repaired in line with the SLA.  However, the renewal of the 
CCTV SLA will need to be reviewed if recent barriers in releasing footage to 
CCG, in relation to incidents which are not of a criminal nature but still 
constitute a breach of tenancy with which CCG could use to manage it’s 
tenancies, are not resolved. Our solicitor will be reviewing the situation in line 
with the guidelines set out by the Information Commissioner’s Office. 

12. Street Lighting Services - current arrangements with Gwynedd Council 
extended to April 2016. The SLA is being managed well with no major issues. 
Some discussion will be required in due course with regards to upgrading of 
existing equipment.   

13. Community Warden Service –Gwynedd Council gave notice that the funding 
for this service would cease from 1st April 2015.  With some difficulty, CCG 
allocated funding from its own budgets to maintain this well regarded service. 
 

6.2.1 Key successes: 
 

1. A good working relationship has been maintained with Gwynedd Council staff 
during the period where their involvement remains in the relevant SLA 

2. An excellent Out of Hours service is received on the Drainage SLA  
3. Improved performance management arrangements from CCG’s side are now 

bearing fruit with performance issues being identified and resolved earlier with 
contractors. 

 

6.2.2 Things that did not go quite so well: 
 
1. The IT link to the Council (Citrix) continues to be a challenge with access often 

unavailable thus impacting on performance of CCG’s lettings teams. 
2. CCG are experiencing problems with Gwynedd Council’s CCTV unit of not being 

given access to footage relating to incidents which are not of a criminal nature 
but which still constitute a breach of tenancy. Such footage is a key element 
CCG uses to manage our tenancies, and if the issue is not successfully resolved 
may impact decisions relating to the renewal of the SLA. 
 

6.2.3 Challenges in the year ahead: 
 
1. To successfully resolve the access to footage issue relating to incidents which 

are not of a criminal nature under the CCTV SLA.  
2. To extend the awareness of GIS and it’s capabilities within CCG. 
3.  Ensure the successful transition of the Wide Area Network to the new provider 

of Public Sector Broadband Aggregation (PSBA) services (BT).  
 

6.3 Housing Benefit Protocol 
 

 Smooth and prompt payment of Housing Benefit is critical to CCG’s income stream 
and the Housing Benefit Protocol sets out commitments for the Council and CCG to 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

18 
 

work together to achieve service levels and standards for the processing and 
administration of housing benefit for CCG’s tenants. 
 

6.3.1 Key successes: 
 
1. CCG continued to work effectively with the Housing Benefits Team in 

responding to the under occupancy charge, maximising the use of Discretionary 
Housing Payments. CCG also   worked closely with the Council’s Welfare 
Reform Task Group. 

2. Any ad-hoc queries or discrepancies were dealt with promptly. 
3. CCG has worked with the Housing Benefits team to develop a report from the 

Capita benefits system to provide accurate figures for the Discretionary Housing 
Payments (DHP) made to individuals thereby allowing an accurate assessment 
to be carried out of the impact of the under-occupancy charge (“bedroom tax”) 
and reliance on DHP payments to CCG’s income.  

 

6.3.2 Challenges in the year ahead: 
 
1. To continue to maintain the good working relationship with Gwynedd Council 

Housing Benefit team and to liaise and share information with them to manage 
changes linked to the Government’s Welfare Reform measures effectively.  

2. Continue to work with the Council’s Revenues Team to ensure the Discretionary 
Housing Payment- together with the additional rural element received by the 
Council- is awarded according to need. 

3. Continue to work with Gwynedd Council, the DWP, and other partners in the 
Gwynedd Welfare Reform Task Group to maintain the necessary focus to 
prepare local services required to deal with Universal Credit.  

 
7.0 Elected Members protocol 

 
7.1 Members will be aware of the elected members’ protocol, which introduced at point of 

transfer a single point of contact within CCG for members. All members’ requests 
(except those of a day-to-day maintenance nature) are logged, actioned and 
monitored within CCG with the aim of providing an improved and more responsive 
service to members.   
 

7.2 Key successes: 
 

1. CCG feel that a strong and effective working relationship has been built with 
elected members and feel that the relationship is growing into a partnership that 
is moving communities forward. 
 

2. Positive feedback has been received over the past 12 months in relation to the 
Elected Members Protocol with members noting an improvement in 
communication (generally) and in being kept informed of progress. 
 

7.3 Things that did not go quite so well: 

1. Some members continue to voice dissatisfaction when they were unable to 
speak to a specific officer. CCG are confident that by providing the service set 
out in the Protocol, Elected Members are receiving the highest possible 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

19 
 

standard of service. The protocol also ensures that a consistent service is 
provided to all Elected Members   
 

7.4 Challenges in the year ahead: 
 
In order to continue to deliver on the members’ protocol’s expectations, the main 
challenge for CCG is to establish a customer focused, empowering and accountable 
culture within the organisation. 
 

8.0 Partnership working on strategically important housing items 
 

 CCG is a member of the Gwynedd Housing Partnership and has taken an active part 
in several strategically important housing issues, such as: 
 
1. Implementing the Common Housing Register, Common Allocations Policy 

and Housing Options Team –the Common Housing Register and Housing 
Options Team commenced in September 2012. CCG is committed to ensuring 
that this project is a success, offers an effective service to manage Gwynedd’s 
social housing stock, and also offers applicants a range of suitable options to 
meet their housing needs.   

 
2. Homelessness –CCG continued to provide a number of its properties for the 

Council’s use to house homeless applicants on a temporary basis to assist with 
the Council’s statutory obligations. However the number of these properties was 
reduced due to complaints about the number and impact of the properties in the 
Tan y Bryn area of Bangor. 

 
A key challenge in the year ahead will be agreeing the Comprehensive 
Agreement between CCG and the Council, and introducing new ways of working 
as required in the Housing (Wales) Act 2014, and working with the Council to 
avoid the eviction of families affected by reduced Welfare Benefits  
 

3. Local employment – since transfer when 170 members of staff were TUPE’d 
across from the Council, CCG has increased the number of staff and, as at 31st 
March 2015, employed a total of  272 staff. In addition, several other local 
employment opportunities have been secured through CCG’s WHQS service 
providers (see Section 4 above) 

 
4. Provision of affordable housing - as previously mentioned in this report, CCG 

are pleased to report that we now have started work on 3 new development 
sites. All of which have attracted either Social Housing Grant or Smaller 
Properties Grant and are due to be completed by March 2016. The sites are Tan 
y Bryn and Ty Gegin in Bangor and Lon Abererch in Pwllheli. These 3 sites will 
provide 18 new affordable housing units and go some way to achieving the 
targets set within CCG’s Development Strategy. 

 
5. Older People’s Strategy –  

 
i) The remaining sheltered housing schemes being redeveloped (Cysgod y 

Coleg -Bala, Bro Llewelyn- Penrhyndeudraeth, Hafan Deg –Barmouth, 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

20 
 

Pentre Uchaf – Dyffryn Ardudwy) following the sheltered housing review 
carried out are nearing completion and it is hoped that all works will be 
completed by September 2015. Improvements include modernising the flats, 
adding lifts, remodelling 1 bed flats to 2 beds, improved door security and 
CCTV. 

ii) Work on rolling out of an alternative model for providing sheltered warden 
services which is based on identified need rather than being tied to tenants 
in a particular sheltered housing complex, is ongoing. However, some 
uncertainty exists as to future direction of these changes due to continued 
uncertainty with Supporting People grant funding which funds the core 
sheltered warden service.   

iii) CCG continued to support the work of the Supporting People Regional 
Collaborative Committee (RCC) ensuring that Provider and Community 
Housing Cymru representatives on the RCC were aware of the needs of 
CCG’s older and more vulnerable tenants.  

iv) CCG continued to improve services for older and disabled tenants.  Mobility 
scooter stores have been installed on several sites and a Mobility Scooter 
policy and accompanying leaflets are in place.  Over 15 sites were 
converted from a hard wired Call Bell system to using a more flexible Life 
Line system offering a more flexible service for our tenants. 

 
6. Disabled Adaptations – the joint Adaptations Panel with the Council continued 

to meet monthly to ensure tenants’ need for adaptations were addressed as 
effectively as possible within the resources available. The team also worked on 
the Intermediate Care Fund Scheme and with Care and Repair to release 
funding to fund an adaptation to facilitate early release from hospital. 
 

7. Welfare Reform –CCG continued to contribute to the multi-organisational 
Welfare Reform task group hosted by the Council with the aim of preparing the 
people of Gwynedd for Welfare Reform.  CCG staff supported tenants to apply 
for Discretionary Housing Payments administered by the Council.  This grant 
has had a positive impact on the sustainability of our under occupying 
tenancies.    
 

8. Gisda –Gisda now manages one of the blocks in Tre’r Gof, Caernarfon. This 
provides young people who have been through Gisda’s intense support 
programme a safe environment in which to demonstrate that they can maintain 
their own tenancies. This is valuable move-on housing that frees up space to 
other youngsters in need of housing support. 
 

9. Supported Housing- Two properties are on the contract agreed with Gwynedd 
Council Social Services that enables the use of the old Warden’s houses in our 
sheltered units as supported housing. These are located in Hafan Elan, Llanrug 
and Llys yr Eifl, Caernarfon. 

 
9.0 Other operational matters 

 
9.1 Supporting People 

During 2014/15 CCG worked closely with the Council’s Supporting People team to 
support our vulnerable and older tenants to sustain their tenancies. In May 2014 an 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

21 
 

audit of the Warden and Community Alarm Service concluded that: 

 The service is strategically relevant 

 The service continues to meet the needs of the client group 

 The service is provided to a satisfactory standard, with several areas of good 
practice. 

 As recommended by the Aylward Review of Supporting People services in 
Wales, CCG are in the process of developing a peripatetic Warden service 
that targets service user needs in both sheltered and general housing needs. 

 The service offers value for money. 
 

The Floating Support service is also well regarded and meeting its targets. 
These services, also funded by the Supporting People grant, contribute greatly to 
preventing homelessness and delaying the need for home care thus saving money to 
the Council’s Homelessness and Social Services teams – as well as Health.   
CCG is concerned about the future of the supporting people grant allocated to CCG 
which was cut by £30K (9%) in 2015/16 and predicted to be cut by another 10% in 
2016/17.  This is a particular concern for CCG’s ageing and vulnerable tenants who 
benefit from the support service which helps enable them to improve their life skills 
and maintain independence.   
 
CCG supports Community Housing Cymru and Cymorth Cymru’s ‘Lets keep on 
supporting people’ campaign to raise awareness of politicians and other decision 
makers of the value of the Supporting People grant in preventing costs associated 
with tenancy failure to Health and Social Services.   
 

9.2 Welsh Government’s (WG’s) new Policy for Social Housing Rents 
 
As reported last year, the Welsh Government introduced a new policy for Social 
Housing Rents which CCG implemented in April 2014. This policy sets a rent band 
for each Housing Association into which the overall average rent for the Association 
must fall. Associations have the freedom to set the rent for each property and 
although the policy does not clearly prescribe that target rents for individual 
properties should be set, CCG have continued to apply principles of our previous 
policy and determined a target rent for each property.  
 
Under the new policy the Welsh Government continues to determine the annual 
inflationary increase and have placed a £2 cap on any additional increases to be 
applied to the weekly rent. Overall rent increase must be lower than the overall limit 
of CPI (based on the rate at the previous September) plus 1.5% plus a maximum of 
£2 per property. The Welsh Government’s proposal is to limit the inflationary increase 
to CPI + 1% from 2017/18 onwards. Although not formally agreed, if this happens, it 
will present significant difficulties for CCG due to the shortfall in income as our 
current business plan requires a rent rise of CPI plus 1.5% in order to be viable. 
 

9.3 Rent/Income Management Collection 
 
The arrears total as a percentage of current tenants’ rent collectable stood at 1.7% 
for the 2014/15 financial year compared with 1.8% for the previous year. It is thought 
that Discretionary Housing Payments and increased profile of the importance of 
paying the rent contributed to this good performance.  



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

22 
 

CCG continues to fund two additional temporary Rent Advisors within the rental 
income team to support tenants financially affected by the Government’s Welfare 
Reform and changes to the Housing Benefit System. Monitoring the impact of 
Welfare Reform continues to be a priority area for CCG as Universal Credit is 
scheduled to be rolled out in Gwynedd in October 2015.  
 

9.4 Empty (void) properties 
 
Performance against this key performance indicator has been an area of focus during 
the year and performance continues to improve.  Internal processes have been 
streamlined, however Difficult to Let properties are affecting the overall turnaround 
period.    
 
In order to deal with this, CCG developed a Difficult to Let Strategy which was 
implemented during 2014/15.  Properties where the Housing Options Team offer 
weak or no waiting lists are advertised using social media and websites.  
Advertisement posters are produced for public display in CCG’s offices and at 
events, and local Councillors and schools are requested to raise awareness of these 
properties with potential tenants.  
 
Some empty properties were categorised as unlettable voids due to being either 
required as decant properties, were awaiting major improvement works or were being 
sold.  All these impacted the turnaround performance of empty (void) properties. The 
number of these properties will reduce considerably during 2015/16 as the WHQS 
programme draws to a final close; processes are in place to process returned decant 
properties quickly. 
 
Improving performance of empty (void) properties will continue to be a priority area 
for 2015/16.     
 

9.5 Direct Labour Organisation (DLO) Review 
 
Following the Board’s decision in January 2013 to retain the Repairs & Maintenance 
service in house subject to the implementation of a transformational improvement 
plan to provide a modern, customer focused and cost effective service, the 
transformation has progressed  well with the key highlights being: 
 

 The overall turnaround time for completing works to WHQS standard on 
empty properties reduced from 22.5 days during 2013-2014 to 12.5 days 
for the 2014-2015 financial year. 

 A steady improvement in the number of emergency, urgent and routine 
repairs completed with almost 95% of repairs completed within the 
required timescales  

 An improved working relationship with Cyngor Gwynedd’s Environmental 
Health Department has been developed which has lead to a more 
responsive approach to repairing properties subject to Health and Safety 
Housing Rating System (HHSRS) notices and Housing Disrepair notices.     

 Continued development and use of the trading account for the service to 
provide clear focus on service costs and efficiencies required.   

 Achievement of accreditation for our Health, Safety, Quality and  



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

23 
 

Environment (HSQE) management systems  

 An in-house Electrical team was established leading to improved repairs 
performance. 

 Successfully changed our Cyclical Heating service provider resulting in 
improved compliance.  

 New Fleet contract established 

 A new mobile working platform was introduced for our workforce, 
improving work allocation and completion efficiencies and allowing 
operatives access to e-mails, HSQE documentation and the company’s 
intranet  

 Successfully tendered for and delivered additional work streams including 
the WHQS Internals mop up scheme  

 Improved management of the workforce resulting in more efficient working.  
 

9.6 Health, Safety, Quality and Environment (HSQE) 
 
CCG achieved OHSAS 18001, ISO9001 and ISO14001 accreditation for our Health 
and Safety, Quality and Environmental management systems. They are designed to 
enable the association to better manage health, safety and environmental issues and 
to ensure consistency and quality in all our processes. 
 

9.7 Regulation and Governance 
 

9.7.1 
 

Regulatory Assessment (RA) 
 
Part 2 of the Housing (Wales) Measure 2011 (the Measure), which amends Part 1 of 
the Housing Act 1996 gives powers to the Welsh Ministers to regulate RSL’s in 
Wales. The measure provides the Welsh Ministers with enhanced regulatory and 
intervention powers. 
 
During the latter part of the 2014/15 financial year, the Welsh Government Housing 
Regulation Team undertook a Regulatory Assessment (RA) on behalf of the Welsh 
Ministers. The  RA is designed to provide CCG, tenants, service users and other 
stakeholders with an understanding of how well CCG is performing against the 
delivery outcomes relating to:  

 Landlord services  

 Governance  

 Financial management  
 

The RA was undertaken in accordance with the risk-based approach to regulation set 
out in ‘The Regulatory Framework’ and associated guidance ’Improving the 
implementation of the Regulatory Framework: a risk based approach to regulation‘ 
and ’Sector risks facing housing associations in Wales‘.  
 
The Regulator utilises information and knowledge gained through ongoing regulatory 
engagement with CCG, together with information provided to inform regulatory 
opinion.  
 
The final report was considered to be a fair assessment and is available on CCG’s 
website but some of the main conclusions noted in the report were as follows: 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

24 
 

 
• The quality of CCG’s own evaluation of its effectiveness is reasonable.  
• Governance remains relatively robust. CCG has developed a bespoke 

criterion against which they rate their performance as “doing well, but can 
still do better”.  

• The gender balance on the Board is 50/50 which is above the housing 
sector norm of 37% for female Board representation. CCG can demonstrate 
that it treats the Welsh and English language on an equal basis, and is a 
fully bilingual organisation.  

• CCG’s risk appetite is prudent. The Board understands its responsibility for 
identifying and managing prioritised high level strategic risks. The risk 
framework that supports Board level discussion is thorough and well 
presented allowing the Board to understand emerging risks. There is a clear 
culture of risk management at both Board and Executive level.  

• CCG’s financial viability published in February 2015 was a “Pass with closer 
regulatory monitoring” (see 9.7.2 below). Concerns relate to the ongoing 
director level vacancies, especially the critical Finance Director post which 
has been vacant for over 12 months.  

• The financial position of CCG is sound and it can meet its short and long 
term financial commitments. The association’s 30 year forecast shows the 
association operating close to its covenants in the short to medium term.  

• Service provision is mixed. The promises made at transfer have been 
successfully delivered. Welsh Housing Quality Standard has been achieved, 
bar the work on some sheltered schemes which is expected to be 
completed in September 2015. Tenant satisfaction with the quality of homes 
has increased by 22% since 2011. Tenant health and safety is good. 
However, CCG cannot demonstrate that repairs and maintenance are 
effective and efficient.  

• A robust tenant satisfaction survey is undertaken independently and 
annually. The conclusions of the most recent survey undertaken in 2014 
show steadily increasing satisfaction levels since transfer, but comparison 
with others shows scope for improvement. 

 
9.7.2 
 

Financial Viability Judgement (FVJ) 
 
The Welsh Ministers have powers under section 33A of the Housing Act 1996 to 
regulate RSLs in Wales in relation to the provision of housing and matters relating to 
governance and financial management. Regulatory assessments undertaken follow a 
risk based approach which seeks to make a judgement relating to the financial 
viability of the Association. 
 
Following the Welsh Ministers review they concluded that CCG’s Financial Viability 
Judgement as at 27 February 2015 was ‘Pass with closer regulatory monitoring’. 
This is defined as:  
 
“the Association has adequate resources to meet its current and forecasted future 
business and financial commitments, but there are one or more areas which warrant 
closer regulatory monitoring to ensure its financial viability remains sound.”  

The Regulator’s judgement was mainly explained as: 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

25 
 

 CCG has prepared the 30 year financial forecasts using a reasonable set of 
assumptions, however, the regulation team was concerned as CCG has 
reduced capacity at executive level (*).  
 
*By the end of the financial year two new Directors had been appointed 
(Director of Resources and Director of Assets and Infrastructure), with both 
due to take up their roles early on the 1st June 2015.  
 

 CCG has adequate secured loan facilities in place in order to fund its 
forecasted spending on property maintenance and improvements, and it has 
sufficient income generating ability to service and repay such borrowings.  

 CCG’s 30 year forecast shows it operating close to its covenants in the short 
to medium term.  

 CCG has adequate private financing in place to fund its forecasted spending 
on property maintenance and improvements, and it has sufficient income 
generating ability to service such borrowings.  

 
9.7.3 CCG’s board membership 

 
 CCG’s Board consists of 12 members, 4 of which are tenants, 4 are independent 

members and 4 are elected members nominated by Gwynedd Council. During the 
2014/15 year: 
 

i) two new Gwynedd Council nominees were welcomed to the Board; Councillor 
Stephen Churchman replaced Councillor Brian Jones and Councillor John Wyn 
Williams replaced Councillor Ioan Thomas who had served for a very short 
time in place of Councillor Sian Gwenllian. CCG has requested that the 
Council review their nomination process due to excessive delays in securing 
replacements.  Such delays weaken CCG’s governance arrangements.   

ii) one tenant member retired at the Annual General Meeting and in line with the 
provisions of our rules chose to stand for a further period; following an election 
amongst tenants, the tenant member was duly re-elected 

iii) one independent member retired at the Annual General Meeting and was 
replaced following an open recruitment process, and a further independent 
member resigned from the Board due to other commitments, leaving one 
vacant seat. As at March 2015, this seat was vacant with the recruitment 
process on-going. 

iv) Our long serving Chair, John Glyn Jones stood down in October 2014 with 
Claire Russell Griffiths, taking over the reigns. 

 
Despite being outside the timeframe of this report, everyone at CCG was saddened 
by the news of John Glyn Jones’ sudden death during May 2015. He had been Chair 
of CCG from the very early days prior to transfer up until October 2014 continuing as 
an active board member thereafter. He gave freely of his time throughout, applying 
his extensive experience of the Welsh housing sector to his leadership of the 
organisation; always prepared to offer his assistance and support. His contribution to 
CCG’s success has been invaluable and he will be greatly missed.     
 
 
 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

26 
 

9.8 Performance Management 
 

 A new performance management system was implemented in April 2014 and all 
staff’s performance was appraised using an on-line system known as “Cynllun 
Llwyddo”. Each individual was set personal objectives for the coming 12 months, and 
their behaviours were evaluated and rated against corporate competencies. A 6 
month review was conducted in September to ensure performance was on track, and 
there was a 100% completion rate for the appraisals across CCG. 
 

9.9 Programme Management 
 

 CCG has successfully delivered a number of important projects of strategic and 
corporate importance during 2014/15 under its Programme Management Framework.  
 
These included: 
 

 Achievement of accreditation for our Health, safety quality and environmental 
(HSQE) management systems 

 The introduction of CCG’s performance management framework (“Cynllun 
Llwyddo”) 

 The restructuring of our Assets Directorate to accommodate the reduction in 
investment works following completion of the initial WHQS investment 
programme. 

 Improving customer care throughout the organisation 

 Management of mitigation measures in response to Welfare Reform  

 Development of CCG’s 2015-2020 Corporate Plan 
 
CCG have continued to embed a programme management approach to effectively 
manage its organisational development agenda. The approach has proved 
successful in the delivery of multiple projects to time and ensuring adequate 
resources for their delivery whilst safeguarding delivery of day to day business 
activities.  
 

9.10 Customer Care 
 

 CCG’s corporate customer care project drew to a close during the latter part of the 
year. One of the project’s targets was to empower the Customer Service Team to 
deal with 90% of all phone enquiries at the first point of contact. The team are 
nearing achieving the target set with 85% of all enquiries received now being 
resolved at first point of contact (compared to an average of 70% in March 2014). 
Work is on going to identify further training needs required by the team in order to 
achieve the target of 90%. 
 
Improving the customer’s experience across all of CCG’s services remained a 
corporate priority during the year. It was therefore a disappointment to the 
management team that the annual Tenant Satisfaction Survey carried out in October 
2014 highlighted slight decreases in satisfaction levels when compared to those of 
the previous year. A focused action plan has been produced to address this within 
individual services. Furthermore, the importance of our customers and ensuring our 
services meet the needs of those customers are high priorities within CCG’s 2015-



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

27 
 

2020 Corporate Plan.  
 

9.11 Land Management 
 

 Members will be aware that CCG has within its ownership and management over 
3,000,000 m² of land assets spread across 517 sites. The assets are extremely 
varied in nature and comprise of woodland, heathland, scrubland, reservoirs/lakes, 
rivers, grazing land and football fields and a high proportion of the assets are located 
in the Snowdonia National Park and the Llŷn Peninsula Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty. 
 
To ensure appropriate management of these sites including limiting CCG’s potential 
liabilities, CCG’s board approved a land management strategy in May 2014. 
Dedicated staff resources within our Land and Facilities department have been 
identified to implement the strategy. These resources also investigate and seek 
resolution to queries or disputes that crop up relating to specific land. These issues 
can involve private land owners including Gwynedd Council depending on 
circumstances.  
 

9.12 Future relationship with Gwynedd Council 
 

 Having completed the offer document promises, it is envisaged that CCG will now 
enter into a new phase of its relationship with Gwynedd Council. Further dialogue is 
required to iron out the details, but it is envisaged that : 
 

1. Arrangements for monitoring and scrutinising CCG’s activities will need to 
change and move towards being similar to those employed for other Housing 
Associations operating within Gwynedd. 

2. For the 3 years that remain, and in accordance with conditions of the Transfer 
Agreement, CCG will continue to attend six monthly liaison meetings with the 
Council and provide such information as the Council may reasonably require 
to satisfy itself that CCG is fulfilling its obligations under the Agreement. 
Thereafter, these liaison meetings will cease to coincide with cessation of the 
contractual condition within the Transfer Agreement. The relationship between 
CCG and the Council should remain positive but be similar to that which exists 
between the Council and other Housing Associations operating within 
Gwynedd. 

3. In order to comply with Community Housing Cymru’s Code of Governance 
launched in February 2015 and expectations of the Housing Regulator, 
consideration will need to be given initially to the process of determining 
nominations from Gwynedd Council to CCG’s board. The emphasis will be on 
securing nominations which are mutually agreed to best meet CCG’s skill set 
and experience criteria sought at the particular time. Then, in the medium term 
it is envisaged that agreement could be reached with Gwynedd Council so that 
CCG’s board membership is similar to that of other Housing Associations 
operating within Gwynedd. 

  
 
 
 



Gwynedd Council – Communities Scrutiny Committee 17th September 2015  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

28 
 

10.0 Conclusion 
 

 CCG’s fifth year in operation has seen satisfactory outputs from all CCG’s service 
providers leading to near completion of the WHQS investment programme. WHQS 
expenditure decreased slightly to £27.8m (including environmental works) compared 
to £30.3m in the previous year due to demobilisation of several contracts.  
 
CCG’s staff numbers were reduced during the year from 294 to 272 (as at 31 March 
2015) due to the WHQS demobilisation. The latter part of the year was an unsettling 
time for staff as the required changes were implemented. The timing coincided with 
when several contracts were also being brought to an end and contractors were 
reducing their resources. Inevitable contract management issues materialised, but 
despite these difficulties, CCG managed its contracts through to a successful 
conclusion. 
 
It is particularly pleasing that high numbers of trainees and people either living in 
Gwynedd or within its catchment areas continued to be employed by CCG or its 
WHQS Service Providers thereby delivering on CCG’s strategic objective of 
maximising the benefit of the WHQS investment to Gwynedd’s economy. 
Whilst there was no major deterioration in tenant satisfaction, it was nonetheless 
disappointing to CCG’s management team that the results of the annual Tenant 
Satisfaction Questionnaire did not show the steady improvement that we have seen 
in previous years. This will be an area of focus in 2015/16.  
 
CCG now look forward to the next five years and are proud to have published its 
2015-2020 Corporate Plan setting out our strategy and aspirations for the period. It 
promises to be an exciting but challenging time. We intend to manage our assets 
effectively, maintain financial viability, continue to involve our customers in everything 
that we do, improve customer satisfaction and grow the business by building new 
affordable units and exploring new income streams. All this, at an incredibly 
challenging time given the general austerity measures being imposed and in 
particular, Welfare Reform.   
 

 



 

 

 

STREET ENFORCEMENT SCRUTINY INVESTAIGATION – DRAFT BRIEF 
 

 

BACKGROUND 
 
The Gwynedd Council Street Service is a comparatively small team of 8 people working 
within a net budget of £300,150. It is responsible for raising awareness and educating the 
public and ensuring a clean and safe environment, implementing the graffity policy, needles 
and lanterns, monitoring performance on street cleanliness and supporting and helping with 
relevant campaigns 
 
The Street Service is responsible for ensuring street and waste enforcement, including:- 

 dog Control, rubbish, graffity and posters 

 fly-tipping, producing waste, trade waste, waste transfer and duty of care 
 
The service’s officers currently have the power to fine and charge for environmental crimes 
 
PURPOSE OF THE INVESTIGATION 
 
The Investigation will, in the first place, seek to establish an understanding of:- 
 

 What are the statutory expectations and requirements on the service 
 

 What is the current performance in terms of enforcement outcomes 
 

 What level of resources are available for enforcement 
 
The Investigation will then seek answers to the following questions:- 
 

 What other possibilities exist to support enforcement, eg police  
 

 What other possibilities exist such as using a specific company to give fixed penalty 
notices (as operates in Conway and Denbigh). 

 
EFFECT 
 
The Scrutiny Investigation will prepare clear recommendations based on evidence for 
submission to the Cabinet Member.  



NAME OF SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
  

DATE OF MEETING 17 SEPTEMBER 2015 

TITLE Planning and the Welsh Language  

AUTHOR Arwel Jones (Senior Manager, Democracy and Delivery) 
 

CABINET MEMBER Councillor Dafydd Meurig  

PURPOSE a. To scrutinise the Council’s Planning Committee’s 
arrangements for dealing with linguistic impact assessments 
b.    To consider how to look further at the issue of the Welsh 
Language and Planning 

 
Background 
 
1. The issue of Planning and the Welsh Language is a subject of interest and concern amongst 

councillors and members of the public and two matters require the attention of the 
committee. The first involves the Council’s internal arrangements for dealing with  linguistic 
impact assessments and the other is a far broader one about the status of the Welsh 
Language within the Planning System. 

 
Background information to planning applications 
 

2. At a recent meeting of the Planning Committee a discussion was held regarding including 
documents which are background information to planning applications, as part of the committee 
agenda. Information which is considered background information to a planning application can 
include assessments and reports on matters such as the environment, affordable housing, 
linguistic and community matters, the economy, archaeology etc. In this case, an enquiry was 
made regarding including a copy of the language and community statement as part of the 
agenda.   

 

3. Information such as a linguistic and community statements and the application’s wider 
background information is available within the public file and on the Council’s website. A public 
file (hard copy) of every planning application, including all the assessments and reports, is 
available by appointment or it is available to be viewed on the morning of the Committee. In 
addition, there is access to these documents via the iPads. The argument is that the statements 
and assessments are all important and care must be taken to ensure that the Committee is not 
seen to give more emphasis to one planning consideration over and above the others. 
Therefore, the legal advice is that it would not be appropriate to include one piece of background 
evidence only as an appendix to the Planning Committee agenda and if any such information is 
to be included, everything that has been submitted with every application on the agenda would 
have to be included. 

 
4. It must be borne in mind that planning reports to the Committee are detailed reports which 

include an assessment of all the material planning considerations and the matters referred to in 
the background assessments / reports of every application, in addition to the fact that all the 
information is made public in any case. 

 



5. Since the discussion at the Planning Committee, discussions have taken place and there 
has been agreement on the need to facilitate access by members (and others) to 
information presented with planning applications. The intention is to do so by providing links 
in the electronic version of the Planning Committee agenda to the individual planning 
applications and also a not eon the agenda to contact the Service if members need any 
further information in terms of access to documents. This system has already been piloted at 
one committee. 
 

6. The Committee will, no doubt, wish to understand where the Service has got to with this 
arrangement and assess whether the response is appropriate in the circumstances. 

 
The Status of the Welsh Language in the Planning System 
 
7. As suggested, the second matter is far broader and more complex and it would be unwise to 

rush to consider the matter without the appropriate background information. The proposal 
then is to schedule the item for the next meeting of this committee on 17 November, with a 
report that would:- 

 

 Set the statutory context in terms of the Planning Bill and so on 

 Explain the National Planning Policy (TAN 20) 

 Explain the Current Local Planning Policy (The Unitary Development Plan and the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Planning and the Welsh Language 

 Explain how the Department currently works within the current policy context 

 Provide information on the (Draft) Joint Local Development Plan  

 Explain how, in the context of TAN 20, it will be necessary to deal with the Welsh 
language in deciding on planning applications once the Joint Local Development Plan 
has been adopted and how the Service is seeking to respond to this 

 
8. It is considered that a substantial report along these lines will enable a sensible discussion 

on the issue. Subsequent consideration would need to be given to whether further work 
would to follow. 

 
9. The Committee’s views are sought. 
 
  
 

 



1

Investigation Members
Councillor Eric Jones (Chairman)
Councillor Angela Russell
Councillor Stephen Churchman
Councillor Caerwyn Roberts
Councillor Louise Hughes
Councillor Eurig Wyn

Officers
Arwel E Jones (Lead Officer)
Catrin Roberts (Housing Strategy Development Officer)
Susan Griffith (Homelessness and Housing Support Manager)
Lowri Evans (Support Officer)

Gwynedd Council
Shirehall Street,
Caernarfon,
Gwynedd
LL55 1SH

August 2015



2

Contents

The Report Page

1. Context 3

2. Purpose of the Scrutiny Investigation 4

3. Main Activity of the Investigation 5

4. Main Findings and Recommendations of the Investigation 6

Appendices

Appendix 1 – An article on the effect of changes in the Benefit
System on homelessness

14

Appendix 2 – Copy of the staffing structure of the Housing
Service

Appendix 3 – Copies of scenarios / case studies considered by
the Investigation

Appendix 4 – A note detailing visiting arrangements of members
of the Investigation to hostels and other organisations

Appendix 5 – A note following visits to hostels and other
organisations

Appendix 6 – List of Officers interviewed

Appendix 7 – Shelter Wales ‘Equal Ground Standard’ Document

Appendix 8 – Leaflet showing the level of benefits payable



3

1. Context

1.1 Homelessness is a real challenge that has been identified by Gwynedd Council
for some years. Projects to address the challenge have been part of the
Council’s Strategic Plan for some time with specific schemes attempting to
address specific elements of the problem, aiming specifically to try to assist
individuals and families to avoid homelessness.

1.2 In addition to this, attention was given to the field in one of the Council’s pilot
schemes, by using the ‘systems thinking’ model. This lead to various
improvements being put into place to improve the available provision to try to
avoid homelessness.

1.3 However, the Communities Scrutiny Committee noted some recent matters
which suggested that this field should be examined again and in more detail.
Initially, some observations had been received from local members regarding
the Council’s provision of hostels. Also, in light of the changes to the Welfare
System and housing benefits in particular, the Committee has identified the
challenge that has been raised including the introduction of what is identified as
'Bedroom Tax'.

1.4 Of course, a local authority such as the Council has specific duties in the
homelessness field and it is important to be clear about them. Briefly, it could be
reported as follows:-

 If a local authority has reason to believe that someone is homeless, or under
threat of becoming homeless, it has a statutory duty to make enquiries in
order to assess whether or not the applicant is eligible for support, and if so,
whether or not the local authority has a duty towards them under the
homelessness provision.

 An initial decision must be made in relation to providing interim
accommodation during the period of making enquiries. If there is a reason to
believe that an applicant is a priority, there is a need to provide interim
accommodation at a Council hostel, private hostel or a bed and breakfast
(for a limited period). Interim accommodation must be suitable for the
applicant.

1.5 In undertaking its work, the Investigation has become more aware of two further
challenges that will place greater pressure on the Council as it implements its
responsibilities in the area:-

 A change in the statutory responsibility that is likely to lead within the next
year or two to a substantial increase in the homelessness cases the
Council has to deal with

 The implementation of further changes in the welfare system that will
mean more individuals and families finding it increasingly difficult to live
and pay rent in a climate of growing cuts in benefits (See Appendix 1) and
also a recent report from “Crisis” and the Joseph Rowntree Foundation
(published in August 2015) that foresees a growth in homelessness for
which there is no adequate provision.



4

1.6 At the moment (2015/16) the full cost of the Homelessness Service in Gwynedd
is £722,370 and it deals with between 550 and 600 cases of homelessness
every year, not to mention the number of enquiries that do not reach that level.
Although there is some uncertainty about the effects of some elements of these
changes, it is unavoidable that the Council will face a growth in demand. (A
copy of the Housing Service Staffing Structure is appended as Appendix 2)

1.7 The Investigation is keen to note that these changes will have a dual effect,
firstly directly on vulnerable individuals and families. However, it will also affect
providers in the area in terms of the way they fund their services. This will, in
turn, affect the services to which the Council refers individuals and families.

2. Purpose of the Scrutiny Investigation

2.1 The Scrutiny Committee agreed on the scope of the Investigation which aimed
to answer the following questions:-

 What is the provision pattern of the Authority and its partners in its entirety
for homeless people in Gwynedd?

 How suitable is the provision of the Authority and its partners for homeless
people – Families – Women – Young people – Single men?

 Does the provision for homeless people meet the user’s needs?
 How accessible are the provisions to the user and is there easy access to

other key services?
 Is the provision for homeless people cost-effective and sustainable?
 Is the current provision sufficient to meet the likely increase in the number

of homeless people as a result of the current recession and welfare
reform?

 What is the partners’ role in providing for homeless people?
 Is consideration given to the location of the provision, i.e. suitability of

hostels on the basis of services available?
 Is consideration given to the backgrounds of individuals staying there?
 What is the introduction process?
 Does the provision respond to local homelessness?

2.2 The Investigation aimed to formulate clear evidence-based recommendations to
be considered by the Cabinet Member and to give appropriate consideration to
any barriers and how to solve them.



5

3. Main Activity of the Investigation

3.1 A work programme that sought to address the brief was agreed upon. There
were several different elements to the work programme:

3.2 First Element – understanding and analysing the current service. Considerable
work was undertaken by the Strategic Housing Policy Officer and the
Homelessness and Supported Housing Services Manager so that members of
the Investigation could gain an understanding of the field, including
consideration of scenarios prepared for the Investigation (Appendix 3). This
included key information regarding:-

 The Council’s statutory responsibility
 Nature and cost of the Council and its partners’ provision
 Performance Results
 User Profiles (age / background / locations)
 Outcomes of any consultation on the recent ‘systems thinking’ work
 Summary of any internal and external audit reports
 Examples of provision / good practice in other areas

3.3 Second Element – challenging at grass roots level. Five visits to hostels were
held in Gwynedd and beyond to see the type of provision available and how
they could be developed. This also offered an opportunity to interview service
users to gain an understanding of their experiences of the available provision. A
note on these visits and the impressions from them can be viewed in
Appendices 4 and 5 of this report. On the whole, users were very happy with
the provision but some areas needed to be improved. It was noted by
committee members that the experience of visiting and meeting users had been
very valuable to the investigation.

3.4 Third Element – questioning officers working in the field. Members of the
Investigation were given a series of presentations from five witnesses who
appeared before them, who were professional officers representing the Council
and its partners. A note on those meetings can be viewed in Appendix 6. These
sessions were a great opportunity to ask about processes and also to reflect on
work practices.

3.5 Fourth Element – draw up and submit evidence-based recommendations to the
Cabinet Leader The Cabinet Member and Senior Manager responsible for the
service were invited to appear before the Investigation on two occasions. A
question and answer session was held at the beginning of the Investigation in
order to find out what were their impressions of the service as it was currently.
At the end of the Investigation, they were invited again so that the draft
recommendations of the Investigation could be shared with them.



6

4. Main Findings of the Investigation

4.1 The work of the Investigation has proved to be a very valuable experience for
members of the Investigation who have done a lot to challenge and break down
some stereotypes about the field. This can include prejudices about the type of
person who finds himself / herself to be homeless.

4.2 The Investigation has identified that there are several challenges facing this
area. There are specific concerns about changes to the Welfare System that
could easily lead to a significant increase in the number who present
themselves as homeless. In addition, new legislation will come into force which
will increase pressures on local authorities and responding to those two
challenges will be clear pressures on our services in the coming months and
years.

4.3 The next point that members of the Investigation wish to make is to note their
admiration of the committed and professional staff who work for the Council and
its partners in the field. It is a difficult and challenging field that deals with
individuals and families at their most vulnerable and members of the
Investigation have seen for themselves the excellent work that already takes
place in the field.

4.4 However, the Investigation has identified a number of recommendations where
it is considered that there is room for improvement. This is not a criticism of the
employees who currently work in the field at all. However, in order to further
improve on how we respond to demand and try to respond to future challenges
facing the service, these recommendations are being presented, per theme.

A. PREVENTATIVE WORK

1. Changes in the Welfare System
Findings –

There is a need to enable people to avoid becoming homeless in light of
changes to the Welfare System.
Evidence –

Information about the challenge of welfare changes, bedroom tax, a likely
reduction in Direct Housing Payments and the move to Universal Credit.
Evidence from the Bevan Foundation Report “Summer Budget 2015: What it
means for Wales (July 2015)” summarising:-
 The shortage of affordable housing is likely to be exacerbated as the link

between benefits and housing costs is broken.
 There could be significant issues for young unemployed people who lose

their entitlement to help with housing costs.
 How people and markets respond to the changes remains to be seen
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Senior Housing Manager leads on:-
a. Ensuring publicity to the likely impact of the changes and available



7

support.
b. Encouraging use of the Universal Credit System to protect rent payments.

2. Mediation Services
Findings –

There is a real need to improve access to mediation services in order to
promote preventative work to address matters that could soon lead to
homelessness.
Evidence –

Evidence from agencies and users that they find it difficult to get access to
mediation services.
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Preventative Services Group and the Young
People Accommodation Group map the services / referral process for service
with a view to drawing up proposals to improve the provision.

B. ACCESS TO THE SYSTEM

3. Housing Service Structure
Findings –

There is a need to research the Structures of Housing Departments in other
Authorities e.g. Housing Options Team / Homelessness all in one team
providing housing options.
Evidence –

Observations were received about the structures of other authorities and the
possibility of having one team providing options in order to make the service
simpler and more cohesive for users.

** Note - Gwynedd was one of the first councils to establish an Options Team
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Strategic Housing Unit collects information about
the structures of other Councils with a view to drawing up proposals to
rationalise and simplify.



8

4. Council Forms and Documents
Findings –

There is a need to simplify forms in the field and look at the arrangements to
complete them, bearing in mind the vulnerable circumstances of some
people who complete them.
Evidence –

Housing Options Team (HOT) forms are difficult for users who are homeless
or in a supported accommodation organisation to complete. Users do not
always have the relevant evidence documents, and as a result, the
application is incomplete and the applicant is not placed on the waiting list.
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Housing Options Team re-examine their forms
and simplify them.

5. Establishing a Single Referral Point
Findings –

There is a need to establish a comprehensive approach as people seek
access to the system.
Evidence –

Users’ observations about having to complete more than one referral
interview with different teams and partners and provide the same information
twice.
A clear impression by the Investigation that, although the different service
elements were working well, there is scope to increase the feeling of “one
service for the users’ benefit
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Strategic Housing Unit, the Gwynedd
Homelessness Forum and the Supporting People Unit collects information
about other authorities’ arrangements to look for good practices in terms of
establishing a single Referral Point for services.

6. Customer Care at the Offices
Findings –

There is a need to improve provision for individuals who present themselves
to the Homelessness Team at the Penrallt Office in Caernarfon
Evidence –

Comparison with the Shelter ‘Equal Ground Standard’ document in terms of
customer experience at the Penrallt Office in Caernarfon (See Appendix 7).
There are deficiencies particularly with the interview provision in terms of



9

privacy and confidentiality
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Senior Housing Manager leads work to:-
a. improve the property used by the Homelessness Team at the Penrallt
Office to interview individuals.
b. ensure a face-to-face interview with the Housing Options Team as well as
the existing telephone arrangement.

C. SUPPLY

7. Information about available properties
Findings –

There is a need to improve the information available in order to refer people
to suitable properties.
Evidence –

Confirmation through interviews that there is no up-to-date list of available
private properties at hand for the Homelessness Team.
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Senior Housing Manager leads on:-
a. establishing a database of available private and public properties that
could be referred to immediately or at least an up-to-date list of properties
that could be available by private and public landlords in order to question
them further.
b. having access to a computer in the interview room in order to look at it
immediately with the applicant.

8. Developing the Private Sector
Findings –

There is a need to develop the private sector and have affordable rents.
Evidence -

 Private sector rents are higher than the Local Housing Allowance.
 Service users having difficulty obtaining a deposit and / or paying the

difference in rent from their benefits.
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Homelessness and Supply and Enforcement
Teams:-
a. re-start meetings with private landlords
b. develop a Gold / Silver / Bronze Scheme for landlords to receive tenants



10

9. Improving the range of properties
Findings –

There is a need to improve the range of available properties to meet the
need.
Evidence –

Confirmation from interviews about properties that are difficult to let in some
areas and where there is an insufficient provision of properties in other
areas.
Particular attention was given to the high number of vacant properties under
the control of Gwynedd Community Homes
Evidence presented to the Gwynedd Council Planning Committee by
Councillor Lesley Day on what seems to be over-provision of
accommodation targeting students in the Bangor area when measured
against the need, in an area where there is a “sleeping out” problem
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Housing Service:-
a. encourage landlords to adapt properties that are difficult to let in order to
make them more suitable for the need and make use of available properties
(e.g. student properties in Bangor).
b. the Department should hold early discussions with Gwynedd Community
Homes to address the reasons for the number and to co-operate on seeking
creative solutions to that problem
c. continue to target the work of the Empty Homes Team to meet the needs
of homeless cohorts.

10. Provision for 25+ year old people
Findings –

There is a lack of accommodation provision for single 25+ year old men.
Evidence –

Users noting that there is insufficient provision if you are a single man and
25+.
Does not appear to be a priority for social housing.
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Homelessness and Housing Options Teams
collaborate with the Private Sector to try to increase the supply for single 25+
year old men.



11

CH. TEMPORARY PROVISION

11. Emergency Accommodation for young people
Findings –

There is a need to investigate short term emergency placements e.g. by
looking at the stock of Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd and the possibility of
establishing a ‘Night Stop / Crash Pad’ scheme in Gwynedd.
Evidence –

There is a lack of provision for emergency temporary accommodation,
especially for young people.
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended:-
a) that the Preventative Services Group and the Young People
Accommodation Group investigate the possibility of extending the ‘Night Stop
/ Crash Pad’ provision in the county.
b) that the Housing Service holds a specific discussion with Cartrefi
Cymunedol Gwynedd regarding use of their stock for homelessness
purposes.

12. Storage for Personal Belongings
Findings –

An investigation should be conducted into establishing a temporary storage
for personal belongings.
Evidence –

Observations from users and employees in the field about a lack of storage
provision while individuals are between placements and no budget to pay
directly.
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Homelessness Team investigates the possibility
by creating a business case to attract a further budget to fund such provision
and the possibility of using the Council’s own resources to store.

D. HOSTELS

13. The Council’s Provision of Hostels
Findings –

There is a question about the existing locations of the Council’s current
provision but there is a need to look at the facilities and a need to invest and
modernise
Evidence –

Following visits, everyone was agreed that the locations were suitable.



12

Although Corris is 5 miles away from facilities, some users are satisfied with
the distance. There is also an issue with access to the building for elderly
and disabled users
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Senior Housing Manager and the Homelessness
Team seek resources to address the accessibility and facilities issues that
could, in the case of Corris, lead to looking for another location.

14. Hostel Fees
Findings –

Research on inconsistencies in the fees of hostel services is required.
Evidence –

Each hostel (Council and its partners) has a different rent amount and
service charge.
There is a real problem of affordability for those on benefits (Appendix 8
shows the levels of benefit it is possible to pay)
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Supporting People and Homeless Teams explore
different rents set by the organisations / the Council

15. Hostels of the Council and Local Communities
Findings –

Local Members need to familiarise themselves with the hostels in their areas.
Evidence –
During visits to Council hostels, it was noted that some local councillors had
not visited the establishments.
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Senior Housing Manager makes arrangements
for local councillors to visit the establishments.



13

16. ‘Hwb’ Provision
Findings –

There is a need to investigate the possibility of developing a provision such
as the Hwb / Hafod (Denbigh) in Gwynedd.
Evidence –

Members of the Investigation have seen the innovative development of Hwb
and Hafod in Denbigh.
Recommendation to the Cabinet Member –

It is recommended that the Preventative Services Group and the Young
People Accommodation Service, jointly with Economy, discuss whether or
not it is possible to develop a business case to establish such provision with
a Registered Social Landlord as a partner.











Senior Housing Manager

Administrative Clerical
Assistant Assistant

Homelessness and Senior Supporting Gypsies and Private Sector
Housing Support People Officer Travellers Liaison Housing Manager

Manager Officer

Homelessness Landlord and Homelessness Supporting People Payments Traveller Site Principal Renewals County Principal
Prevention Officer Tenant Liaison Officer Service Officer Project Officer Officer Support Officer Officer Housing Officer

x 2

Private Sector Housing Support Senior Assistant Grants Renewals Renewals
Rental Properties Officer Officer Officer Officer (North) Officer (South)
Liaison Officer

Private Leasing Tenancy Support Assistant x 3 Disabilities Clerk of Clerk of
Scheme Officer Worker x 3 Liaison Officer Works (North) Works (South)

Homelessness Homelessness Accommodation Noddfa Hostel Rhianfa
Officer (North) Officer (South) Officer x 2 Senior Warden Hostel Warden

Assistant Assistant Support Workers Support Worker Licencing Administrative
Homelessness Homelessness + Sleep-in Workers + Sleep-in Worker Administrative Assistant
Officer x 2 Officer x 5 x 2 Officer

Environmental Environmental Environmental Technical
Health Officer Health Officer Health Officer Housing

- Housing - Housing (North) - Housing (South) Officer x 4

Empty Houses
Officer



APPENDIX 3

SCENARIOS FOR THE HOMELESSNESS SCRUTINY INVESTIGATION 3/3/2015

'You are two pay packets from the streets, they say. Well, it's true' –

http://www.theguardian.com/society/2009/mar/22/homeless-middle-class-
recession

Scenario 1

 Jack is 19 years of age and lives at home with his mother, stepfather and younger
sister who is 13 years of age.

 At present Jack is not in education, employment or training (NEET) and is finding it
hard to find employment in the area

 Jack has a BTEC National Diploma in Business and Finance qualification.
 Unfortunately Jack and his stepfather don’t get on and this causes arguments in the

family home which has an effect on the mother and younger sister.
 The step dad suggests that Jack is not trying to find employment and is not doing

anything with his life;
 Jack strongly disagrees with this and states he had not had any luck at all interviews.
 Over the weekend the stepfather has given Jack’s mother and ultimatum either Jack

goes or he goes.
 Due to the pressure Jack’s mother is under she asks Jack to leave.
 Jack is unable to stay with his grandparents as both have health issues and live in a

one bedroom bungalow.
 Jack has no contact with his father as he left Jack and his mother when Jack was

child.
 Since the weekend Jack has stayed at his friend’s house on the sofa (sofa surfing)

but has to leave within a week due to lack of space and having an effect on their
family members.

 When Jack attended a meeting with the DWP (Department of Work and Pension) he
broke down and told the member of staff of his situation.

 The member of staff referred Jack to the Homeless Department, Gwynedd Council
for an assessment.

Scenario 2

 Bethan is a single mother of two children aged 2 and 5 years.
 2 months ago Bethan was issued a Notice to seek possession as the private sector

landlord want to sell the house
 Bethan has depression and she has not been able face dealing with the situation
 Now Bethan and her family must leave within a week, leaving the property empty.
 If the property is not empty the landlord will remove and dispose of the furniture.
 Bethan's parents are very supportive but have no room in their house and don’t have



sufficient savings to give to Bethan as a deposit for another property.
 The depression is having an effect on Bethan’s health and wellbeing and the current

housing situation is making her health worse.
 Unfortunately, the children's father now lives with his new partner and had very little

contact with his Bethan and the children.
 Bethan does not work at present as childcare costs are higher than the wage she

would earn.
 Bethan’s mother has suggested that she visit the Housing Department for advice and

support.

Scenario 3

 Paul is in prison and will be released in about two to three weeks.
 Paul is a prolific offender and steals to support his substance misuse addiction.
 Following his release Paul will need to work with the Probation Service as he will be

on a license and he will need to be drug tested by ARCH every week.
 Prison Link has sent a referral to the Homeless Department and they have also

received a Risk Assessment from the prison Resettlement team.
 The risk assessment states that there is a high risk of re-offending but low risk to

others.
 Paul cannot be housed in the Caernarfon and Felinheli area as he has offended in

the areas and people know of him.
 Paul has no accommodation to return to and his family cannot accommodate him

because they live in Caernarfon.



Homelessness Scrutiny Investigation

HOSTEL VISITS

DATE HOSTEL MEMBER 1 MEMBER 2

04.03.2015 Hafod & Hwb,

Dinbych

Cynefin Group

Stephen Churchman Angela Russell

12.03.2015 St Mary’s Hostel

Bangor

North Wales Housing

Stephen Churchman Angela Russell

13.03.2015 Noddfa,

Deiniolen

Gwynedd Council Hostel

Stephen Churchman Eric M. Jones

18.03.2015 Rhianfa,

Corris

Gwynedd Council Hostel

Stephen Churchman Louise Hughes

19.03.2015 Hafan and Tre Gof

Caernarfon

Gisda Hostels

Stephen Churchman Eric M. Jones

Councillor Stephen Churchman agreed to visit every hostel as this will ensure a consistent

opinion and that one other member nomination is needed for each visit.

Appendix 4



Hwb/Hafod – Denbigh – Cynefin 03.03.15

 Cllr Stephen Churchman

 Cllr Angela Russell

 Catrin Roberts, Housing Strategy Development Officer, Gwynedd

Council

 Walis George – Chief Executive, Cynefin Group

 Mair Edwards – Community Development Manager – Cynefin Group

 Osian Elis – Yr Hafod Senior Officer, Cynefin Group

 3 x service user

1. Two elements, namely Hwb – community resources and Hafod –
Accommodation and Support Units

a. Bought the site in 2010 – Tai Clwyd did this and took the risk (Tai Clwyd
is now the Cynefin Group)
b. Received Lottery Funding in 2012

c. Work started on the site in 2013

d. Site opened in 2014

2. They have undertaken consultation work with the young people in order to
identify their priorities, namely:

a. To learn locally

b. Flexible service

c. Access to other services in one central location

3. Statistics / information collected in terms of need for the service in order to

confirm the location.

4. A Steering Group was established with Councillors / Young People etc. and to
hold drop-in sessions as part of the consultation process in different sites /
times.

5. The building is worth £2.2 million.

a. Housing Units - Social Housing Grant - have thought about the future
in terms of design should the Supporting People grant come to an end
and they will have to be let as general flats. - 6 flats on the site for
young people aged 16-24. Stay period between 6 and 18 months. Link
Hafod with Hwb in order to create training opportunities etc. for those
who need support.

b. Coleg Menai – have a lease for the top floor and the Music Room –

short / part-time courses to prepare people to go to full-time

education/training.

c. Ground floor - Lottery funding / youth service (rent free for ten years) /

Cyfenter / Freeman / Garfield

Appendix 5



6. When a person comes in, the Hafod Manager identifies his/her needs and
then refers the person to the most suitable service. This ensures that the

person does not have to repeat the process again.

7. Work with the Job Centre / local businesses in order to arrange work

experience.

8. If the person receives a good reference from Hwb, they do not have to go to

the DWP in Rhyl to sign on.

9. 10/12 agencies use Hwb e.g. youth clubs/ Urdd/ Job Centre Plus/ Careers/

health etc.

10.Hwb opening times – 8:30 – 21:30 (Staff from Hafod lock up)

Hafod

1. Referrals received through the Denbighshire Supporting People Unit i.e.

shortlist of 5 people. This is okay, but they are not able to fill the room as

quickly and then lose income from rent and possibly voids which can lead to

the Supporting People Unit clawbacks if the voids are more than 10%.

2. Hafod is a service that is staffed on a 24/7 basis and has one member of staff

sleeping in.

3. Users have a self-contained flat.

4. There is a communal lounge and kitchen available for joint activities.

5. Staff members implement the support plans with individuals and support them

with skills to live independently and the ability to sustain their tenancies.

6. CCTV is in operation and there are Rules in place in the hostel e.g. no

alcohol/drugs/1 friend at a time etc. There are no set times for locking the

door / time to come in.

7. Have to sign in and out in terms of safety.

8. Staff Office in the building.

9. Staff bedroom in the building – for staff who sleep in.

10.Rent of £226.47 a week, for rent and service charges.



Service Users

1. No suitable property to move on to;

St Mary's Hostel – (North Wales Housing) – Bangor 12.03.15

 Cllr Stephen Churchman

 Cllr Angela Russell

 Catrin Roberts , Housing Strategy Development Officer, Gwynedd

Council

 Robert Parry – St Mary’s Hostel Manager, NWH

 Louise - Project Worker, NWH

 Rhian – Project Worker, NWH

 Aled Bebb – Outreach and Rehabilitation Worker, NWH

 2 x Service User

1. A person can refer him / herself to the hostel.

2. Their concerns regarding lack of provision in the area was noted – there is

always a waiting list;

3. Deal with high risk/medium service users

4. Hostel is manned 24/7 with two members of staff on every shift.

5. Two members of staff sleep in – and there is an on-call service for staff

6. Service users have to be in the hostel by 11:00pm - if not, they have to stay

out until morning.

7. Users with mental health problems – but also noted that there is a lack of

provision for those with severe mental health problems, which are too severe

to be placed in a shared hostel.

8. At times, when the service user is referred for a specialist service e.g.

counselling, due to the waiting list for the service they could move on from St

Mary's Hostel and staff are not able to contact them if an appointment comes

through.

9. Ensures safety and security by implementing a system of rules - if a person

goes through the notice system and staff have to ask the individual to leave,

this means they are 'intentionally homeless' and the council does not have a

duty to provide them with a service. They could wait three months and then be

referred back to North Wales Housing.



10. If they have to leave the hostel (by breaking the rules and receiving notice to

leave), the team at St Mary’s hostel refers them to an outreach and

rehabilitation service for support.

11.On average, an individual will stay at the hostel for 6 to 12 months.

12.Before a place at the hostel can be offered, the risks must be considered

along with the situation of the users already at the hostel.

13. If they are able to move on successfully, they can be given support in their

new accommodation for a six week period.

14.Lack of moving on provision especially for 19+ year old males.

15.Need to look into shared housing to make them affordable.

16.Bangor has a high number of students; therefore private landlords tend to

stick to students.

17.Need to work with private landlords to develop a plan to attract them.

18.Reasons for referral:-

a. Substance misuse problems

b. Relationship breakdown

19.The outreach and rehabilitation officers work with CAB and visit different

areas to offer advice on Housing related matters.

20.Work with people sleeping on the streets in order to try to find them suitable

accommodation. There is a minority who wish to live on the streets.

21.Some people are sofa surfers – these are the hidden homeless.

22.People are familiar with the services available from North Wales Housing

23.Cuts in the DWP service – users not able to use a phone or computer there -

NWH hoping to offer this.

24.Consideration must also be given to whether users are able to use computers.

Do they need support to use them?

25.Have identified that mobile phone charging facilities are needed – NWH is

looking into it.



26.A very good relationship with staff at the Homelessness Department - need to

strengthen the relationship with the Housing Options Team.

27.The Housing Options Team form does not gather information about the need

for support – but it has been given to understand that work is ongoing in

addressing this matter.

28.The weekly rent is £169.10 and it will increase to £178.28 on 1/4/2015.

29.Utility is £8.71 and will change to £7.25 on 1/4/2015.

Meeting with two NWH service users:-

1. Note that at times due to staff turnover they feel that they have had too many

Key Workers – very difficult to trust people at times and as soon as the trust is

established, they get a new worker.

2. Organisations to look at methods of encouraging service users to save as the

service payment does not prepare them for the true cost of independent living.

3. Find it difficult to get a suitable place to store belongings i.e. they may have

belongings they have collected in preparation for when they move, because

the rooms are too small. Also, if they have to leave a property for any reason

and have to take their belongings with them, they are not able to afford to pay

to store the items, and without a place to store them, there is a danger of

losing them.

4. Need more notice if they have to move from one property to another – feel at

times that they have to leave within a day or two and need more time to

prepare.



Noddfa, Deiniolen (Gwynedd Council)

 Cllr Stephen Churchman

 Cllr Eric Jones

 Anne Smith, Homelessness Service Officer, Gwynedd Council

 Denise Williams, Support Worker, Gwynedd Council

 Catrin Roberts, Housing Strategy Development Officer, Gwynedd

Council

1. Hostel has been established since approximately 1974.

2. Hostel regarded as a ‘Place of Change’ - i.e. gives service users an

opportunity to receive support to improve their situation.

3. Service users have to refer through the homelessness department.

4. If they are in priority need and/or while an investigation of the situation is

ongoing - they will then be placed at the hostel.

5. Complete a risk assessment and discuss the suitability of the placement with

the hostel staff.

6. Support individuals and families.

7. Hostel is manned 24/7.

8. 3 Support Workers work at the hostel and staff sleep in every night (1 member

of staff sleeps in).

9. Support Workers regularly complete support plans with individuals.

10.Case Worker in the Homelessness Department at the Caernarfon/Bangor

office works with the individual along with a Support Worker e.g.

a. Budgeting

b. Cooking

c. Craft nights

d. DIY nights

e. Moving on.

11.Service is monitored by Supporting People on an annual basis.

12.Noddfa weekly rent:- £117.60



13.Utility amount is:-

a. Single person - £7.00 a week

b. Single with Child - £9.80

c. One or two parents with one or more children - £12.25

14. If a Room is empty, then one day should be counted as void and Supporting

People can ask people for their money back.

15. Training for staff is provided (rolling programme) e.g. First Aid

16.Tests the fire alarm every Monday - important because of service user

turnover.

17.Hostel Rules in place – outlined in the handbook.

18. If they move on to their own property, they could receive support from the

Tenant Support Worker.

19.Works with private landlords and approximately 60 temporary properties

where the council manages the properties.

20.Considering a package for private landlords to take on people as tenants

(moving on) namely a package on a gold/silver/bronze level – packages to be

confirmed by the Homelessness Department.

21.Supports service users to complete HOT forms.

22.Bus stop at the bottom of the road so that they can travel to Bangor /

Caernarfon to gain access to services.



Rhianfa Corris (Gwynedd Council)

 Cllr Stephen Churchman

 Cllr Louise Hughes

 Susan Griffith, Homelessness and Supported Housing Manager,

Gwynedd Council

 Paul Cross, Warden, Gwynedd Council

 Jayne Tyson, Support Worker, Gwynedd Council

 Catrin Roberts, Housing Strategy Development Officer, Gwynedd

Council

1. Service users have to refer through the homelessness department.

2. If they are in priority need and/or while an investigation of the situation is

ongoing - they will then be placed at the hostel.

3. Complete a risk assessment and discuss the suitability of the placement with

the hostel staff.

4. Support individuals and families.

5. Case Worker in the Homelessness Department works with the individual

along with a Support Worker e.g.

a. Budgeting – benefit payments etc.

b. Cooking

c. Living independently

d. Moving on.

6. Weekly rent:- £117.00

7. Utility amount

a. Single person - £7.00 a week

b. Single with Child - £9.80

c. One or two parents with one or more children - £12.25

8. Some move on from the hostel to private sector property which is managed by

the Council, still on a temporary basis, but is more independent.

9. The nearest services are in Machynlleth or Dolgellau e.g. DWP and some

agencies give back the individuals’ bus fare.

10.They do not have internet access but with the support and supervision of staff

they can use the office computer to look for properties/work etc.



11.Some partners they work with:-

a. Cefni lettings

b. Cais

c. Gisda etc.

12.The Food Banks in Barmouth and Machynlleth support the hostel by giving

them packs.

13.Start-up pack - they are able to give essentials to those who arrive with

nothing e.g. toothpaste/toothbrush/shampoo etc. Do not receive many

donations, but do not ask for them either.

14.The difficult part of the job for hostel staff is dealing with service users who
are not happy with the Council’s decision.

15.The reward of the job is being able to support service users - listening to them

to understand their situation.

16.Many services users have mental health problems i.e. depression, self-

harming, Schizophrenia.

17.Staff receive training on:-

a. Child Protection

b. First Aid

c. Drugs and alcohol

d. Personal safety

e. Support Plan

f. Fire

18.POVA training was discussed - have not received the training thus far.

19.The hostel is not manned overnight; however there is an on-call service in

place.

20.3 staff members work at the hostel and are on-call.

21.Of the opinion that a service user needs a home first, before being able to

address any other issues - depression/job seeking etc.

22.On average, people stay in the hostel for around 6 to 12 months.

23.Tenant Support Officers support them when they move on.



Gisda, Caernarfon

 Cllr Stephen Churchman

 Cllr Eric Jones

 Catrin Roberts, Housing Strategy Development Officer, Gwynedd

Council

 Siân Tomos, Chief Executive, Gisda

 Siwan Williams, Supporting People Project Manager

 Andrew Smalley, North Gwynedd Team Manager

 2 x service user

1. 16-24 year old service users are able to refer themselves to the service and

referrals are also received from other agencies with the individual’s

permission.

2. A specific officer will take the details, but if there is no room at the hostel, they

are placed on a waiting list. Gisda is looking to support service users in future

who are on the waiting list until accommodation becomes available.

3. At present, there are approximately 8-9 people on the waiting list.

4. On average, service users stay at the hostel for around a year but are allowed
to stay for up to two years (under Supporting People guidelines).

5. The main reason for people becoming homeless is a breakdown in their

relationship with their family - and some have issues relating to substance

misuse.

6. Gisda is able to offer Mediation and can refer to other services that provide

support.

7. Note that they see a purpose for the hostel but also like the idea of dispersed
housing - community integration.

8. Hafan is a 24/7 service with a few hours in between day and night staff

(occasionally) where there is no one on site.

9. On-call service available – currently being reviewed.

10.Support the young people with:-

a. Budgeting

b. Cooking

c. Giving them start-up packs - i.e. tooth paste etc.



d. Working on the Outcomes Star – a method of measuring a person’s

progress as they receive support

11.CCTV on site and a Gate with a buzzer to control who enters and who leaves.

Service users have a fob.

12.There is no set time for closing the hostel doors – they can come and go as

they wish.

13.Weekly rent at Hafan is £144.00

14.Utility amount is £12.00 a week - if they are working and contribute to the rent
we do not pay the utility.

Tre Gof

1. Staff are able to work from Tre Gof during the day – there is an office in one of

the flats.

2. Washing and laundry facilities at Tre Gof and Tŷ’r Ysgol. 

3. Weekly rent is £129.00 per week – pay for electricity etc. themselves.



Scheme Weekly rent Service Payment
- weekly

Staff
cover

Single/dou
ble cover

Doors
Locked

Referral
process

Access to
services

Service Group

Hafod,
Denbigh

£226.47
(£129 rent /

£106.57
service
charge

(sustainable
building)

£15.25 24/7 Single No specific
time

Through the
Supporting
People Unit

Yes Young people
16-24

St Mary’s
Hostel,
Bangor

£178.24
(01.04.15)

£7.25 (01.04.15) 24/7 Double Locked at
11pm

Self-Referral Yes 16+ singles but they
are usually 18+

Noddfa,
Deiniolen

£117.60 Single £7.00
Single with Child -

£9.80
1 or 2 parents
with 1 or more
children £12.25

24/7 Single Locked at
11pm

Through the
Gwynedd
Council
Housing

Department

Bus at
bottom of

the road to
go to

Caernarfon/
Bangor

Single and families

Rhianfa
Corris

£117.60 Single £7.00
Single with Child -

£9.80
1 or 2 parents
with 1 or more
children £12.25

24/7 Single They are
asked to be

back by 11pm

Through the
Gwynedd
Council
Housing

Department

Bus to
Machynlleth
/Dolgellau

Single and families

Hafan, Gisda £144.00 £12.00 24/7 Single No specific
time

Self-Referral Yes Young People 16-24
years old

Single/young parents
Pendinas,

Bangor

£186.82 £6.31 24/7 Single Locked at
11pm

Through
other

agencies

Yes 16+ singles but they
are usually 18+





Members of the Investigation were given a series of presentations from the witnesses below

who appeared before them, who are professional officers representing the Council and its

Partners.

Date Officer Function

15.4.15 Sheilla Phillips Supporting People Senior Officer

12.5.15 Osian Ellis Chairman of the Gwynedd Homelessness

Forum

12.5.15 Gareth Parri Housing Options Team Leader

02.6.15 Dafydd G. Jones Benefits Manager

02.6.15 Carys Fôn Williams Housing Manager – Supply and Enforcement

Appendix 6



A guide to the service 
user standard for Welsh 
homelessness services
January 2015

R
eg

is
te

re
d

 c
ha

rit
y 

no
. 5

15
90

2



2

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

Contents

1. Introduction

2. How to implement the Equal Ground Standard: at-a-glance guide

3. The Equal Ground Pledge

4. Thoughts on the Standard

5. Developing the Standard 

    Speaking to staff

    Key concepts to emerge from the service user and stakeholder consultations

    The information given

    Key concepts to emerge from the service user and stakeholder consultations

    Outcomes

    Key concepts to emerge from the service user and stakeholder consultations

6. Piloting the Standard

    Wider consultation

7. How to implement the Standard

    Principles for user involvement - defined by service users

    How to measure and evaluate the Standard

Appendix 1. The Equal Ground Standard

Appendix 2. Service User Feedback Form

3

4

5

6

8 

9

11

11

12

13

14

16

17

20

21

22

24

29



1. Introduction

The Equal Ground Standard is a tool for embedding person-centred principles in frontline homelessness 
services. It has been developed by service users themselves and includes: 

•	 Outcomes for good customer service
•	 Guidelines for involving users in service design and evaluation
•	 How to monitor the impacts of the Standard. 

The Equal Ground Standard sets out guidelines to the standard of service that people should receive 
when they approach Welsh homelessness services. We hope that all organisations in Wales providing 
frontline homelessness services will find this a useful tool. Organisations who sign up to the Equal Ground 
Standard will demonstrate their commitment to providing a quality, person-centred service.

The Standard was developed by past and current users of housing and homelessness services through 
the Shelter Cymru Citizen Panel, now known as the Take Notice Project. The Take Notice Project is a 
Wales-wide group of people who are integrated into the fabric of Shelter Cymru to help guide our policy, 
campaigning and practice.

Project members design and implement research, mystery shop our own services, deliver findings at 
conferences and seminars and have started to feed their expertise into the organisation at strategic level, 
helping Shelter Cymru move towards being a more user-led organisation. The Take Notice Project is a 
resource that local authorities and other organisations can access to help refine customer service and user 
involvement practices.

Service users are best placed to tell us what it is like to use homelessness services in Wales. Their 
expertise is an important resource for driving up standards. Recent research has shown that Welsh 
housing and homelessness service users do not always feel like they are treated with courtesy and respect 
when they present to the local authority.1 Research has also found that service users have very clear ideas 
about how they would like services to look in terms of customer service delivery.

Panel members have developed a set of outcomes for frontline services – the Equal Ground Standard 
(Appendix 1). The Standard describes the kind of service that users want to access. In order to adopt the 
Standard, local authority homelessness services need to identify their own solutions and draw up their 
own action plan, in consultation with users, with the aim of achieving the Standard outcomes.

This project has been designed, led and implemented by the Citizen Panel with extensive support from 
Shelter Cymru’s Research Team, the Homelessness Network and Cymorth Cymru. Special thanks go to 
Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) local authority who piloted the Standard in the summer of 2013.

3

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

1. http://www.sheltercymru.org.uk/campaigns/research/homelessness-legislation-review/



4

Shelter Cymru has won funding from the Big Lottery Fund for a three year project that will support 
the implementation of the Equal Ground Standard across Wales. The Take Notice Project is taking 
the work of the Citizen Panel to the next level by developing the skills and confidence of service 
users, educating communities about homelessness and offering a service to local authorities and 
other providers to help them check the quality of services they provide to people, including free 
'mystery shopping' services.

Take Notice project members look foward to working with service providers between now and 2017 
to roll out the Equal Ground Standard across Wales.

2. How to implement the Equal Ground Standard: at-a-glance guide
 

•	 Read	the	Standard	at	Appendix	1 to understand the outcomes that service users want to see 

•	 Consult	with	staff	and	service	users	on how to reach the Standard outcomes 

•	 Define	an	action	plan	with short-, medium- and long-term goals 

•	 Implement	the	action	plan as resources allow 

•	 Display	the	Pledge in offices or give customers a copy 

•	 Monitor	and	record	progress	to provide evidence that you are working towards the outcomes;  
 collect customer feedback using the form provided 

•	 Does	your	service	already	have	a	policy on customer service and/or service user involvement? If  
 so, consider how the Equal Ground Standard may complement what you are already doing 

•	 Read	this	report to understand the background to the project 

•	 Contact	Shelter	Cymru to get support from the Take Notice Project on setting up the Standard  
  and evaluating progress.

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



5

3. The Equal Ground Pledge
 
Service users are sometimes afraid to tell the truth of their situation due to fear of repercussions resulting 
in them missing out on the support they need.

At the same time stakeholders told us that service staff require courtesy, truth, honesty and openness from 
service users to allow staff to provide the best possible service.

The Equal Ground Standard is intended to be a partnership approach. As part of the culture change to a 
more reciprocal relationship, two-way pledges have been designed by service users and stakeholders to 
describe to each other what they need to ensure a successful working relationship. These expectations 
are set out at the beginning of the relationship, so that users have a better understanding of why the 
service is making the inquiries that it is.

One of the principles of the Standard is to display these pledges in your office or provide them to service 
users.

‘The service user has rights, as they should, but they also have a responsibility to tell the truth, for them 
to give us the documents we need in time to progress the case. We need you to be engaged with us and 
have reasonable expectations that we cannot provide the world.’ [Stakeholder]

‘We will believe you in what you are saying so now tell us the truth.’ [Stakeholder]

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

Provider	pledge: ‘My job is to listen to you, treat you with respect and assist you to the best of my 
ability. If you provide me with the documents and the honest, correct information that I need to assist 
you, then I promise to do everything in my power to help you. If I can’t help you, I will help you find 
someone who can. I am not here to judge you; I am here to help. Because you are treating me with 
respect, I will treat you with respect. Let’s work together to ensure a good solution for you.’

Service	user	pledge: ‘I promise to be open and honest with you and provide you with all requested 
information in order for you to help me. In return, I trust that you will believe what I say and that you 
will do your best to help me. Because you are treating me with respect, I will treat you with respect. 
I will actively take part in the process so that you are able to help me find a good solution to my 
housing need.’



6

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

4. Thoughts on the Standard
 

‘It is impossible to provide good customer service without service user participation. To provide a 
good service we need to know whether we are meeting their needs. This framework can definitely help 
organisations in achieving this because it has been designed by service users themselves – it will help 
organisations to focus their efforts on what is most important to people they serve.’

	 (Tai	Pawb)			 

‘Tenantiaid Cymru / Welsh Tenants welcomes the Standard for minimum service user standards. We 
fully support the principle that people are better served when they have the opportunity to shape the 
service being provided, be that information, advice, accessibility or direct use. People who offer their 
time and resources should be treated with dignity and respect regardless whether they have protected 
characteristics. People should also be supported to play a role according to their capacity – but should 
they wish to evolve their learning and influence, they should be properly resourced to do so. In supporting 
this approach, we are committed to making available our network of fellow volunteers in a friendly and 
supportive environment so that they can make the best of their shared experience finding collective 
support and mentoring to do so.’

								(Welsh	Tenants)

‘The Service User Framework has enabled us to focus on the needs of our customer helping them to have 
a better experience when using our services and tell us what they like and don’t like, helping us adapt our 
services accordingly.’

	 							(Stakeholder)		

‘The [Standard] is an excellent tool and I was very glad I was involved with the design. In March 2013 a 
group of us service users met and discussed past experiences (good and bad) and what our expectations 
were when approaching housing and homelessness services in Wales. The [Standard] will help allay all 
fears for staff and service users and will help give clearer messages and not raise expectations. There is 
still a long way to go but I am positive that the [Standard] will be accepted and implemented across Wales.’ 

(Take	Notice	project	member)

‘I have worked for many years in housing and I am so encouraged by the [Standard]. It is a shame it has 
taken so long but I am looking forward to the changes being implemented and the difference it will make to 
people at the most difficult of times.’ 

				(Stakeholder)



7

‘I personally think service users should be more involved with decisions made about homelessness and 
housing standards, this will be ideal for good practice and improving the service we could all call upon 
one day. I had some real fun taking part in this project and met some really interesting people who had 
some inspirational stories about themselves and others who had been in a difficult situation, all due to the 
current principles that are mandatory today. Shelter Cymru also acknowledged these issues and gave us 
an opportunity to get our point across to the decision-makers. I believe we should be working holistically 
with all of the different services.

‘I feel it is important that high standards are met and that all principles should be upheld. Some of us 
service users feel decision-makers should interact with vulnerable and difficult cases that go on every day. 
Treating every case with the utmost respect and empathy, also listening to any issues that are causing 
peoples difficulties in their lives is important. I feel that there are still so many people out there suffering 
because they cannot get their point across. Working closely together would improve communication 
between services and service users and, most importantly, we would become a better society for it.

‘I am a former care leaver and felt that most of the decisions in my life were out of my hands, so to be 
involved with the Standard principles that would benefit others for the better is uplifting for me and I really 
feel it is important that service users should have a say. After attending meetings with other service users 
I see the passion people have in their homes and being involved in the decisions services are making for 
them. So I plead to the Welsh housing and homelessness services to adopt the Standard and maintain 
joint working with the service users so that we can improve the quality service that is supplied daily and 
that impacts on so many people’s lives.’ 

  	(Take	Notice	project	member)

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



8

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

5. Developing the Standard

Method 

•	 A service user event where the Citizen Panel came together to develop the Standard outcomes
•	 Follow-up consultation with the Panel to ensure that the Standard outcomes accurately reflect what 

they expect from services
•	 Focus group and interviews in the pilot area for stakeholders
•	 Focus group and interviews in the pilot area for service users
•	 Follow-up interim evaluation in the pilot area
•	 Wales-wide consultation including:

1. Online survey open to all housing and homelessness services
2. Email consultation open to all housing and homelessness services
3. Focus groups in north and south Wales for stakeholders
4. Focus groups in north and south Wales for service users.

During the service user event we found that a number of key values and principles were essential to 
service users. These principles focus on five themes:

•	 Presentation at the service
•	 Speaking to staff
•	 The information given
•	 Delivery of outcomes
•	 Service user input into design and delivery of services.

Presentation at the service 
Service users think that the initial atmosphere of the frontline office sets the scene for the remainder of the 
experience. Service users feel that physical barriers get in the way of good communication.

Therefore, service users would like to see a bright, airy, welcoming open-plan office with desks widely 
spaced apart (this will allow for an element of confidentiality when discussing personal problems). They 
would also like the option of a private room to discuss really sensitive matters. This atmosphere will foster 
a partnership working approach and two-way relationship. This will lead to a culture change in delivery 
with hostility and frustration reduced.



9

Service users understand that services cannot be open at all times; however, they would appreciate 
information on housing/homelessness services that they can access outside of office hours. Service users 
want to know where to go for housing and homelessness advice, both in terms of the local authority and 
other third sector services. They want you to assist them in these matters.

Service users would like to be greeted by someone when they come into the office. This is because some 
people feel intimidated by office buildings. Also people do not know what to do when they enter the office 
and could feel apprehensive and ‘on-guard’. Service users would like to be greeted by a friendly face who 
can show them where to go for the help and advice they require.

Due to the trauma that some people are experiencing, service users would like access to an independent 
advocate when they present as homeless. Service users have two preferences:

•	 An independent, knowledgeable legal advocate on site who can offer advice upon presentation
•	 A homelessness mentor, someone who has been through the experience to offer moral support 

through the trauma of the process.

Service users often have to bring their children to the service. They would like the office to be child-
friendly, for example with toys in the waiting area.

In addition, wherever possible, BME people should be represented among frontline service staff.

Service users want to know from the outset what your service offers:

‘This is what you can expect from me; this is what I expect from you.’

Speaking to staff
It is important to service users that they are treated with respect and courtesy regardless of their current 
situation. Service users told us that respect and courtesy translate as the following: 

•	 Being treated with compassion
•	 Being treated with understanding and empathy (but not pity)
•	 Being treated with a non-judgemental attitude
•	 Being listened to.

‘Staff should talk and help service users in the way that they would talk to, and assist, respected members 
of their own family.’

‘Everyone deserves a voice… no matter what background. And people from all walks of life should be 
treated equally.’

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



10

The Research Team received 48 responses from the online survey targeted at stakeholders. We asked 
stakeholders how important they think it is that Welsh housing and homelessness services provide good 
customer service to people seeking advice and assistance and 98 per cent of stakeholders agreed that it 
was very important.

Service users want staff to understand their situation and wider support needs (if applicable). They would 
like staff to be knowledgeable in the following areas as a minimum to aid understanding of service users’ 
situations:

•	 Customer service training
•	 Training in dealing with vulnerable people who might be in distressed states; It is important that staff 

can create an environment whereby service users feel they can share their story with the staff member
•	 Acknowledging and addressing additional support needs (such as literacy or numeracy difficulties)
•	 Training in mental health
•	 Equality and diversity training.

Service users want knowledgeable staff to give them accurate information to minimise any prolonged 
trauma of homelessness. Service users want staff to be fully trained in current housing law and to keep 
up-to-date with case law.

Service users want consistency in the application process and information given so that they can expect 
a similar progress no matter where they present. They do not want to repeat their stories to a number of 
people. They want to tell their story once and have staff implement good communication between the 
team to save them having to go through their story again. Ideally service users would have one person to 
deal with their case throughout.

As a minimum, service users would like staff to wear a name badge so they know who they are talking to.

Service users told us that they want to be asked key questions early in the process. For example, ‘Do you 
have any language or communication needs before we start the process?’

Service users want to be communicated with in clear dialogue in the language of their choice. If 
communication difficulties exist then they want to be offered support to overcome them.

Service users want to be spoken to in plain language. They want staff to avoid jargon (or if jargon is 
necessary then explain what it means).

Service users want transparency in the questions they are to be asked. If they were to see a copy of the 
questions they are to be asked, they would feel less like they were being ‘interrogated’.

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



11

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

Key concepts to emerge from the service user and stakeholder 
consultations

The information given
‘If I knew where I was, how long I would have to wait or if I was expecting a phone call at least it would 
make it more bearable, I can aim for something.’

Service users want a succinct but informative visual (for example a flow chart) of 'the way the system 
works’ and information in writing about what the service can and cannot offer. This should also clearly 
set out the service users’ legal rights. It is preferable that information is given verbally in the first instance; 
however, as it can be hard to retain information taken in during a high stress situation, then it might also be 
preferable to produce written information for people to digest at a later date.

At present, service users feel that they have to provide all of the information and the service does not. 
They want the relationship to be more reciprocal. The key issue is that service users are given a choice in 
how they receive the information.

Service users want to know that they can appeal any decision and how they can go about the appeal 
process.

Service users would like assistance to complete forms if required, but they do not want people to fill in 
forms for them. They want information explained to them in an accessible way and want to be empowered 
to complete their own forms.

Service users want jargon free information delivered in a format that is right for their individual needs.

Service users want a clear explanation of the process and timescales involved set out in writing as well as 
verbally.

Politeness ToleranceProfessionalism Transparency Listened to Calm

To be believed

Plain language

Sensitivity

Welcoming

Awareness of communication needs

Respect Dignity Objectivity

Motivated to help Fairness

Honesty Empathy Upfront

Rapport Non-judgemental Clear Helpful Equality



12

Service users want to be given information on other issues such as welfare benefits, moving furniture, 
access to direct hostels etc.

Service users would like a copy of their application form.

Service users want good quality information; they told us that quality information translates as:
•	 Accurate
•	 In a flexible format of the service user’s choice
•	 Clear
•	 Concise
•	 Practical.

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

Key concepts to emerge from the service user and stakeholder 
consultations

Excellent quality Informative Legally correct Tailored to needs

Understandable

Relevant

Jargon-free

Concise

Meaningful

Realistic Factual User-friendly Kept up to date on progress

Written and verbal, as requested Accessible format

Visual depictions Realistic waiting times for information

Clear Prompt

Accurate

Timely



13

Outcomes
‘Some matters cannot be resolved but providing that person feels that the organisation has done its best… 
that certainly would be satisfactory for me.’

‘Even if they have lost their home through their own fault, made a mistake, it is not about saying sorry no 
duty bye bye, it is about exploring other options for them, other avenues so we can assist. We don’t want 
them on the street.’

‘Simple, crystal clear language that says this is the decision; these are your options now.’

Service users want more joined up working between services. People want to be referred, or at least 
signposted to, other support services as and when needed. Service users want to be signposted and 
supported to access other agencies if the outcome at their service is not the desired outcome.

Service users want their other support needs acknowledged and communicated (with permission) to other 
providers so there is a joined-up response to their housing needs.

Service users want to be kept up-to-date on their case.

Service users want more support after they have their tenancy – they want to be offered information on 
other support services, how to access benefits, money management etc.

If service users are placed in temporary accommodation, then they want to be kept up to date with what is 
happening with their case.

Service users want standards of temporary accommodation to be more heavily enforced.

Service users were adamant that although some people are in desperate situations it does not mean that 
they should live in poor quality accommodation. Sometimes particular types of temporary accommodation 
are not suitable for certain service users.

Service users want a focus on homelessness prevention. They don’t want to wait until they become 
homeless before they are assisted.

Service users want to have their decision made in as brief a time as possible. Where possible, they do not 
wish to wait until the deadline.

Service users want truth and honesty. They want to be told honestly why the decision was made.

As noted previously, service users want the outcome explained verbally, but then repeated in other formats 
(such as written) to suit their needs.

Service users want to know about the appeal process and be reassured that appealing will not result in a 
more negative outcome for them.

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



14

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

Key concepts to emerge from the service user and 
stakeholder consultations

Service user involvement in the design and delivery of services
‘Any service user should be able to have an input, as they are the only ones able to give honest feedback, 
not some Minister in Westminster - the users themselves.’

Service users do want input into the design and delivery of services, but:

•	 They want the choice whether to do so or not – not all service users want to input
•	 They want to choose how they input – there should be various means of input available depending on 

service users’ needs
•	 They want to choose when to do it – some service users do not wish to input at the time of crisis but 

would like to do so afterwards
•	 They want to be given the knowledge of the service – so they can meaningfully input on a scale wider 

than their own personal experience
•	 They want to be empowered to input in order to overcome barriers such as distrust of ‘the system’, 

fear of repercussions and lack of confidence – for example, feedback to an independent third party 
has been mentioned as a useful way of facilitating service user involvement.

Ensuring the aim is the attainment of safe, secure and appropriate housing

A positive way forward defined Clear steps forward set out with timescales

Face-to-face explanation of reasons Written information of decision and explanation

Contact details given for follow-up enquiries

Clear decision

Clear detailed reasons why the decision was made

Details of ways to formally appeal clearly signposted

Details of access to independent advocacy

Realistic and workable outcome

Timely decision Transparent process

Conveyed in a professional manner



15

Service users need to know of their right to input into services. At present, many service users do not 
know of this right or how they would go about participating.

Service users want to be involved in various ways such as:

•	 Reviewing service policy documents (online or in hard copy)
•	 Being asked to feed back their experience verbally
•	 Completing a service user feedback form following presentation
•	 Completing a service user feedback form post-homelessness crisis
•	 Research, for example mystery shop exercises, service or policy evaluations
•	 Focus groups
•	 Surveys
•	 Events
•	 Informal gatherings
•	 Open forum (perhaps online)
•	 Becoming ‘homelessness mentors’ for other people experiencing homelessness.

Service users want input to be driven by bottom-up, rather than top-down, processes.

They want to feel assured that they’ll be listened to and that their input is making a difference to services.

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



16

6. Piloting the Standard

‘The Service User Framework has enabled us to focus on the needs of our customer, helping them to have 
a better experience when using our services and telling us what they like and don’t like, helping us adapt 
our services accordingly.’ 
        
                            (Housing Advice Centre Manager)

We implemented the pilot study of the Standard in Rhondda Cynon Taff local authority in June 2013. The 
pilot ran until December 2013, and we undertook a progress evaluation in August 2013.

The Housing Advice Centre Manager made the following points about progress of the Standard:

In general the implementation of the Standard had gone well. They have not been able to implement each 
of the recommended actions because some are more medium- to long-term goals. A medium goal for the 
pilot area to achieve is to update their website and online information in line with the Standard.

The issue of further staff training is to be discussed within the team and the possibility of staff being 
trained in ‘motivational interviewing’ is something that they are considering. Such training can help diffuse 
situations and take the personal emotion out of the interviews and process and lead to a professional, 
standardised response from staff. The idea of an advocate in the housing service is being seriously 
considered. Again, this is more of a medium- to long-term goal.

‘I have had this conversation with somebody who works with a mental health charity and they wanted to 
do some sort of funding of an advocate as part of the service. I think it would be really good, the gold star 
service and something we hope to take forward. At the minute a general advocate is difficult but something 
which I believe is a fantastic idea.’

We were told that some of the actions were simple to implement and intuitive:

‘Some of it as easy but I guess it is about officers being clearer and managing expectations and being very 
specific on what we can and can’t do, what information we give out etc. Introducing yourself and name 
badges were easy to implement along with being clear, we expect that to happen already. The bigger stuff 
like website information needs work.’

Barriers to the success of the Standard include the expectations of clients and keeping in regular contact 
with the clients due to the volume of clients that they see. However, these are barriers that the housing 
service can work toward as the Standard progresses.

Quantifying success was noted as a challenge for the progress of the Standard:

‘This was hard and I still think we are struggling. We are not getting the feedback from clients we would 
have hoped for. This is a massive area for us to measure as how can we measure what is success? Is it, 
say, coming in to me saying you can’t get into that area and you saying thanks a lot I really understood 
that and I understand my options, or is it handing over the keys to a house or thanks I am in a really good 
placement?’

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



17

Following this feedback, the decision was made to add additional questions to the Service User Feedback 
Form as follows:

•	 What help did you want from us?
•	 What help did you get?
•	 Were you satisfied with the help we gave you?
•	 Could we have helped you more? If so, how?

‘It can be very scary for some services around some of the wording, for example “a bright and airy 
reception area”. Most would offer that in a civic centre arrangement but some would say, “Can we be 
expected to provide this?” when many local authorities are having spending freezes.’

Following this feedback, the decision was made to colour-code actions into short, medium and long-term 
goals for services:

•	 Short-term goals depicted in green – those actions that can be implemented easily within one year
•	 Medium-term goals in amber – those actions that might involve more resources to implement but 

should be achievable within three years
•	 Long-term goals in red – those actions that could take considerably more resources but should be 

worked towards within five years.

We collected feedback from service users in the pilot area after the Standard had been implemented and 
100 percent strongly agreed that the location of the office was accessible, they were spoken to well by 
staff and were given the information the way they wanted it. This demonstrates the commitment of the 
Housing Advice Centre to the Standard. In addition, 88 percent of service users agreed or strongly agreed 
that they would like to be more involved in how the service is delivered.

Wider consultation
As well as piloting the Standard in Rhondda Cynon Taff local authority we also consulted more widely in 
south and north Wales. Every service user we spoke to wholeheartedly backed the Standard.

‘It all makes sense; it’s just trying to make a crappy situation better for those who are going to go through 
what we have been through.’

Among stakeholders there was widespread agreement that the Standard largely represents a view of what 
good customer service should look like. Some pointed out that there is an overlap with many corporate 
customer service and service user involvement frameworks that are used within individual authorities.

Homelessness services that already have policies in place on customer service and user involvement may 
not wish to duplicate this work by adopting the Equal Ground Standard. They may nevertheless choose 
to cross-reference existing policies with the Standard, in order to ensure that the principles are already 
covered, updating policies and practices if necessary. It may be appropriate to adopt the Standard as a 
complementary measure.

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



18

One stakeholder raised concerns that the ‘problem’ is with the ‘system’ and implementing the Standard 
without considering the system that drives the original behaviour ‘smacks of solving the wrong problem 
in the wrong order’. They argued that, from the customer perspective, achieving a ‘first time fix’ is the key 
performance indicator. 

The Equal Ground Standard needs to be seen in the context of the new statutory prevention duties 
introduced by the Welsh Government. It is a tool to build person-centred values in service delivery and as 
such as well suited to a more collaborative problem-solving approach to services, as the new legislation 
and accompanying Code of Guidance aims to promote.

One stakeholder told us that an issue with the Standard is that it cannot change outcomes for people and 
that some service users are never going to give ‘good’ feedback to a service that did not resolve their 
issue:

‘Evictions and “no duty” are never going to be seen in a positive light or as providing customer service but 
are unfortunately part of the role. You’re never going to have good feedback: “Thanks for evicting me, it 
was done in a sensitive manner.”’

On the other hand we also spoke to numerous service users who approached services that were unable 
to resolve their housing issue (both in this study and previous studies). Research demonstrates that 
delivering bad news in a sensitive and courteous manner does matter to service users. Similarly, we spoke 
to people who were owed a full duty by the service but were still not happy with the service they received 
due to the way they had been treated by the service.

It was noted that there is a potential tension between providing transparency in the form of standard 
questions, and the problem-solving approach which requires flexibility. We suggest that both approaches 
are necessary: providing a list of questions to establish standard information such as personal details, 
age, support and health needs etc. Any additional questions are explained to service users so they know 
the relevance of providing that information.

Stakeholders noted that there is no mention of telephone services in the Standard which can help with 
demand and ease of access to the service. Service users were not keen on telephone services, preferring 
face-to-face help. However, a telephone or online service could form part of a holistic service that gives 
users a number of points of entry to the system.

‘I think local authorities are definitely changing. In [local authority] it is all about customer focus, it is about 
having someone there to take the forms, staff there to go to people, not just meet and greet but to help 
people fill out forms. They are trained in Housing Benefit and planning and other services so they can give 
basic information out and then make sure they are linked through to the correct person. I think it needs to 
be written down so there is a uniform approach.’

‘There needs to be a little bit more detail in the quality and diversity stuff in terms of what the LA has to 
provide but also what the service users can expect. I know it was mentioned that a hand-out should be 
given telling them of their rights but maybe also the Equality Act should be mentioned, especially if the 
person has a protected characteristic then they are not allowed to be discriminated against. If there are 
any barriers because of these characteristics then it is not right, making sure the service is aware of their 
obligation.’

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



19

Finally, there were a number of suggestions from service users and stakeholders for large-scale service 
improvements. These suggestions might involve substantial resources and are therefore included here as 
suggestions for future service reforms, rather than integral elements of the Standard:

•	 The arrangement that one person deals with the service user’s enquiry from start to finish, to build 
trust. 

•	 The use of an appointment based system in all services so that there is less waiting around which 
raises tensions and causes frustrations. A simultaneous drop-in option plus appointment based 
system, whereby people could choose which route to use, could be implemented. Any wasted 
appointments caused by people not turning up could be offered to people on the drop-in queue. 
Another idea was to have an estimated waiting time displayed in the office so that service users could 
go away and come back later. 

•	 The introduction of a system where any documentation is copied and a receipt is given to service 
users. Service users and stakeholders also felt that a separate person needs to be in place to take 
ownership of any documentation given in. This is useful when there is a long waiting  time in order to 
prevent people having to wait a long time just to hand over a piece of paper.

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



20

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

7. How to implement the Standard

The outcomes defined by service users have been brought together into the Equal Ground Service User 
Standard (Appendix 1). The Standard includes a number of suggestions for practical actions to implement 
the Standard.

These	suggestions	are	intended	as	a	guide	only:	the	task	of	defining	exactly	which	short-,	medium-	and	
long-term	actions	are	necessary	to	reach	the	outcomes	should	be	set	at	a	local	level,	involving	staff	and	
service	users.

In order to subscribe to the Standard services need to:

•	 Consult with staff and service users on how to achieve the Standard outcomes
•	 Define an action plan with short-, medium- and long-term goals
•	 Implement the action plan as resources allow
•	 Display the Pledge in offices or give customers a copy
•	 Monitor and record progress to provide evidence that you are working towards the outcomes (see 

Chapter 8). This should include collection of customer service feedback using the format Appendix 2.

Action plan timescales are defined as follows:

•	 Short-term goals depicted in green – those actions that can be implemented easily within	one	year
•	 Medium-term goals in amber – those actions that might involve more resources to implement but 

should be achievable within	three	years
•	 Long-term goals in	red	– those actions that could take considerably more resources but should be 

worked towards within	five	years.

There are no surprises in the Standard. There are no actions that are not common sense. We expect most 
services are already working towards many of the outcomes already. 

Developing service user involvement
Involvement in the design, delivery and evaluation of services is a core component of the Equal Ground 
Standard. There are a variety of ways in which services can choose to do this, including:

•	 Consulting service users on defining the Action Plan to reach the Standard outcomes
•	 Involving users in process and impact evaluations
•	 Involving users in developing Homelessness Strategies and other policies
•	 Carrying out mystery shopping exercises.



21

Principles for User Involvement – defined by service users

Service users want:

•	 the choice of whether to input or not, how to input and when to input

•	 the chance to have their opinions heard on the service they received

•	 opportunities to feed in early and at planning stage

•	 opportunities to feed in anonymously

•	 varied options to participate to suit preference and ability

•	 engagement opportunities to be well publicised

•	 to help monitor the delivery of your service

•	 each service to have a ‘service user involvement’ champion

•	 to have outcomes of involvement fed back to them

•	 a cross-section of service users to input

•	 involvement to not be tokenistic or a ‘tick-box’ exercise

•	 to participate in an accessible and supportive environment

•	 a range of events and opportunities to become involved

•	 services to have a budget for involvement, including travel expenses, venue hire and 

refreshments

•	 to be empowered to share their views.

Shelter Cymru’s Take Notice Project has won funding from the Big Lottery Fund until 2017 to develop 
service user involvement in homelessness across Wales. The project, which began in August 2014, has 
expanded the Citizen Panel in both the south and the north making available a cohort of service users 
trained to evaluate and feed into homelessness services.

The Take Notice Project is available to all services wishing to develop service user involvement. 
Alternatively, to make involvement easier to do on an ongoing basis services may wish to consider setting 
up their own local Citizen Panels. While there is a small resource implication associated with this, the 
benefits can be considerable in terms of access to Panel members’ independent expertise.

Take Notice project members and Shelter Cymru staff are available to advise on how to set up a local 
Citizen Panel. However, as a starting point you may wish to consider the following:

•	 It is important to maintain a rolling programme of recruitment, in recognition of the fact that Panel 
members will come and go. Numbers need to be replenished occasionally.

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services



22

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

•	 In our experience, it can be beneficial to recruit not only from your own service users but also from 
other local sources, such as support services. This will ensure a wider base of experience for the Panel 
as well as making recruitment considerably easier. 

•	 It is a good idea to develop a varied programme of activity in order to keep people interested and meet 
people’s different preferences. Panel members need to have input into what the programme includes. 

•	 Communication with the Panel needs to be through a range of channels. Shelter Cymru uses 
telephone, email, texting, social media and the post to communicate with people. 

•	 While it is good to have a main point of contact for Panel members, it is also beneficial for Panel 
members to be able to develop relationships with several different members of staff from within the 
service. This gives Panel members a better ‘feel’ for the service as a whole and increases potential for 
meaningful engagement.

How to measure and evaluate the Standard
There are two aspects to evaluating the Standard – a process and impact evaluation:
•	 Process evaluation: measurement of your service’s progress towards the successful implementation of 

the Standard.
•	 Impact evaluation: measurement of the outcomes of the Standard for service delivery and user 

satisfaction.

We recommend an annual process and impact evaluation of the Equal Ground Standard.

There is a steady move away from the extensive collection of performance indicator data towards a focus 
on outcomes such as customer satisfaction. We recommend that service user led evaluation is the most 
effective and efficient approach to both process and impact evaluation of the Standard.

Services should record and monitor several key performance indicators. Due to the individual nature of 
each service we do not think it is appropriate to identify the exact measures to collect for each service. 
Measures for your service will depend on what elements of the Standard are being currently implemented 
and what data you already collect as a service. The aim of the Standard is not to place a burden on 
already busy staff.

Examples of data your service might want to collect to demonstrate progress include:

•	 Changes made to front offices
•	 The accessibility of your service by looking at:

• Customer addresses
• Customer demographics
• Customer protected characteristics
• Languages requested by customers
• Requests for support to access and engage in your service
• Staff diversity



23

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

•	 Data from Service User Feedback forms (Appendix 2)
•	 Training courses attended by staff
•	 Complaints data
•	 Reduction in jargon
•	 Changes made to advertise and explain your service to service users
•	 How you are promoting the Standard (your website, displaying the pledges etc...)
•	 Referrals and signposting to other services
•	 Access to advocacy for service users
•	 Provisions to ensure that correct information is given to service users
•	 Reductions in successful appeals
•	 User involvement in the design and delivery of services
•	 Efficiency of processes – for example, waiting times, decision times etc.

However, the main source of evaluation of the Standard should be user-led. The evaluation should include 
qualitative elements such as:

•	 Focus groups and follow-up interviews with your service users, using trained Peer Research Officers to 
allow objectivity and ensure that service users are comfortable and open.

•	 Interviews with staff and wider stakeholders regarding the process and impact of the Standard.

•	 Mystery shopping of services by users.

The Shelter Cymru Take Notice Project will be available to support services to carry out evaluations of the 
Equal Ground Standard.

Services can choose to be evaluated directly by Take Notice project members, or alternatively services 
can receive training in order to carry out their own evaluation which may include elements such as mystery 
shopping, carried out by services’ own users.

‘I think mystery shops need to be done across the board.’

	 	(Stakeholder)

For more information, or to make contact with the Take Notice Project, please contact:

Carey Hill, Take Notice Project Co-ordinator (South Wales)
careyh@sheltercymru.org.uk

Lucy Beavan, Take Notice Project Worker (North Wales)
lucyb@sheltercymru.org.uk 



= medium-term goal (up to three years)= short-term goal (up to one year)

24

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

The outcomes

An open and welcoming office

We want to feel welcome

We want the service to be 

accessible to all service users

Suggested examples of actions to achieve the outcome

Enough suitable chairs for everyone

Clean bins provided

Disability considerations clearly displayed - for example, accessibility, 

physical, visual, hearing impairments

Remove glass (or equivalent barrier) between staff and service user

Brightly painted

Decent sized tables and enough room for multiple people to complete 

their forms

A private room if needed, clearly advertised

Ensure that the service is accessible to people in rural areas

Ensure that the service is accessible to those with protected 

characteristics

Ensure that the service is available to people whose first language 

is not English by providing a telephone (and ideally a face-to-face) 

translation service for service users. Also look at potential volunteer (eg 

law students) who could help out with other languages on site

Somebody to welcome and guide service users when they first 

approach the service

Ensure that there is an equality and diversity champion within your 

service but also ensure that all staff are trained in equality / diversity 

issues

Ensure all communication and language needs are met

Link in with outreach services for those with accessibility requirements

Language facilities need to be available and made clear

Appendix 1. The Equal Ground Standard

Key: = long-term goal (up to five years)



25

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

We want to know about your 

services (and other support 

services)

We want access to advocacy if 

we want it

We want to be spoken to with 

courtesy and respect

Offer correct information on other services such as housing services, 

moving furniture, furniture recycling shops, mental health, substance 

misuse access to direct access hostels etc. Offer this verbally and also 

in written form. Service users would like to see a map of local services 

alongside a description of how each service can assist them

Advertise your services widely including online and also via other means 

such as social media

Consider not only the person's housing needs but also any additional 

support needs

The advertisement of other related support services displayed in your 

office (including opening hours)

Provide a resource pack of information in an accessible format about 

local organisations and services ( to be viewed in the office area)

Allow speedy access to a Shelter Cymru case worker (or other 

independent service) for independent legal advice

Asked if they want to be accompanied by anybody – friend, family, 

advocate, support worker etc... (not just for legal representation but also 

because it might be helpful to remember what they have been told)

Effective signposting to advocacy

Having staff attend courses on:

(i) Customer service training

(ii) Training in dealing with vulnerable people who might be in distressed state

(iii) Supporting additional support needs (such as literacy or numeracy 

difficulties)

(iv) Training in mental health

(v) Equality and diversity ( including disability equality training)

(vi) Domestic abuse training

Allowing service users access to someone who has been through the 

homelessness system for moral support



26

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

We want to speak to 

knowledgeable staff

We want to see consistency of 

response across Wales

We want good information 

sharing between documents and, 

sometimes, organisations

We want to know who we are 

speaking to 

We want our communication 

needs met

We want to be communicated 

with clearly

Senior Management to monitor the quality of frontline staff in terms of 

quality control of information provided. Senior staff to 'shadow' frontline 

workers on occasion to understand some of the challenges that frontline 

staff face.

Visiting projects that help vulnerable people and speaking to service 

users is often a really good way of understanding some of the needs of 

vulnerable people/ those with chaotic lifestyles

Staff attending courses on housing law and keeping up with current case 

law

The use of Regional Collaborative Committees as part of new Supporting 

People Programme to get a regional approach

Compare your application process to other local authorities and services

 Ideally, service users to deal with one person throughout the process 

from the moment our case opens to closes

Review policies and implement good internal information sharing systems 

(and enable the monitoring and measurement of the success of this)

Review external processes – develop better processes for obtaining 

consent from service user for sharing information outside of the Local 

Authority

Staff to wear name badges

Service users to be asked early in the process if they have any 

communication or language needs

Avoiding technical terms or jargon, but where it cannot be avoided, 

provide service users with a sheet detailing technical terms. Check the 

spelling of all template letters to ensure they are easy to understand

Service users would like to be kept up-to-date on how their case is 

progressing

 

Give service users (and their advocates) realistic expectations

Provide a user-friendly flow-chart showing the 'system' in terms of 

the particular service. For example, provide a copy of the flow-chart 

included in the Code of Guidance

Provide receipts for everything that the service user hands in



27

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

We want to see a transparent 

process

We want information given to us 

in a way that we understand

We want to know our rights

We want a clear statement 

regarding what the housing 

service provides

We want more joined up work

We want good quality temporary 

accommodation (when needed)

Give people waiting at your service a realistic timescale of how long they 

have to wait before they get seen on the day

Provide service users with a copy of the questions they are to be asked 

and what information they are going to be expected to give

Give a realistic picture of the outcome that the service user is likely to 

achieve at the service but ensure that this is coupled with a reassurance 

of further support to resolve the current issue. Ensure a positive way 

forward is defined

Ensure information is given in a timely manner, when it counts and is 

helpful to the service user

The distribution of the ‘information sheet’ or this information displayed 

on the wall. Should be given to, and explained verbally, to all (take into 

consideration literacy and sight issues).

Ensure information is concise and informative

Give information both verbally and also in written form

Ensure the service user has a choice regarding what format the 

information is given and it best meets the person's access requirements

Let services users know of their right to appeal via setting out the appeal 

process, and having it displayed clearly for service users

Provide contact details with the frontline staff member for any follow-up 

enquiries

A code of standards that is offered to all people who present as homeless 

or for housing advice, explaining “this is what you can expect from me, 

this is what I expect from you,” this can be extended to what can be done 

for the client and what cannot, what the  service needs from the client etc.

Link in with other internal departments and external agencies

Cross-organisational training

Consider the suitability of accommodation offered to service users (e.g.  

Consider substance misuse needs)

Ensure that temporary accommodation is suitable and of a good 

standard and is accessible for service users



28

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

We want more homelessness 
prevention

We want a quick as possible 

decision time

We want to know that we have 

a choice whether to input into 

services and when

We want a choice of how and 

when to into service delivery and 

design

We want to be reassured that our 

input is making a difference

We want you to show your 

support to the Equal Ground 

Standard

Start working with people earlier to prevent homelessness

Ensuring that written information on why decisions are made is 

presented clearly

Review policies and streamline services so that decision times can be 

reduced as much as possible

Clearly advertise in accessible formats service user involvement 

opportunities to service users

Hold focus groups (and other means of communication) with your service 

users to find out how they would like to be involved in your service

Give service users an opportunity to input in a  number of ways such 

as documentation review, focus groups, mystery shopping, email 

communication, suggestion boxes in frontline offices etc...

Give feedback to service users on their involvement

Demonstrate how input has made a difference

Display the framework in the office in an accessible format

Provide hard copies in reception

Place the Equal Ground Standard on your website

Ensure that the Equal Ground Standard is embedded in management 

and that there is a Equal Ground Standard champion within the 

organisation to lead and maintain the standard



29

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

Appendix 2: Service User Feedback Form

Housing Service Feedback

In order for us to understand the effectiveness of our service we would appreciate it if you would complete this brief 

evaluation form which rates the service you have just received. All of your answers are strictly anonymous. Please 

speak to a member of staff if you would rather feed back your views via a different format.

Please read the statements below and indicate the extent to which you agree using the 5-point scale provided.

2  The information I was given by staff was clear.

3 I was informed about how I could get involved in improving the service.

4 I was advised where to go if I needed help with other matters the service could not help me with (leave   

 blank if not applicable).

Strongly agree

Strongly agree

Strongly agree

Strongly agree

Tend to agree

Tend to agree

Tend to agree

 Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Neither agree nor disagree

Neither agree nor disagree

Neither agree nor disagree

Tend to disagree

Tend to disagree

Tend to disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Strongly disagree

Strongly disagree

Strongly disagree

1

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

3

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

5

5

5

5

1 I was spoken to politely and respectfully by staff.



30

The Equal Ground Standard: A guide to the service user standard for Welsh homelessness services

What service did you want from us? For example, how did you want us to help you?

What service did we actually give you? For example, how did we help or advise you?

Were you satisfied with how we helped or advised you?

Could our service be better? If so, how?

Thank you for taking the time to feedback your thoughts.

Optional section - leave out if service has no Citizen Panel.

We are always looking for people to help us improve our service. Our Citizen Panel is a group of service users who 

tell us how we can make changes to improve the service that people receive. If you think you might be interested in 

taking part please fill in your contact details and someone will be in touch to talk to you to talk further about it.



  

Local Housing Allowance rates – Gwynedd  
 

The Local Housing Allowance or LHA that you will be paid depends on which 
LHA area you live in within Gwynedd, and the number of bedrooms that you, 
and everyone else who lives with you, need according to the rules. 
 
 

 
These LHA areas are called Broad Rental Market Areas, [BRMA], and there are two BRMAs 
within Gwynedd from the 1st February 2010 onwards. These areas have been reviewed by The 
Rent Officer Service from the 1st February 2010, there were previously five BRMAs affecting 
Gwynedd.   
 

The BRMAs in Wales have been established by The Rent Officer Service, which is part of 
the Welsh Assembly Government, and is totally independent of Gwynedd Council.  
 
The LHA rates are provided yearly by The Rent Officer Service from 1 April 2012 and will be 
published on our website each time the rates are changed. The figures shown below for 1 
April 2015 will remain in force until April 2016. 
 

To establish which bedroom rate applies to you, count each occupier once only and in the first 
group in which they appear below.  One bedroom is allowed for: 
 

� every adult couple 
� any other adult aged 16 or over 
� any two children of the same sex under the age of 16 
� any two children regardless of sex under age 10 
� any other child 
� a bedroom used by a carer (or team of carers) who doesn’t actually live in your home 

These weekly rates apply from 1 April 2015 
 

Broad 
Rental 
Market 
Area 
(BRMAs) 

The size of the accommodation required 
1 Bedroom 
with shared 
facilities 

1 Bedroom self 
contained 

2  
Bedrooms 

 

3  
Bedrooms 

 

4  
Bedrooms 

 

North 
West 
Wales 

 
58.11 

 
71.41 

 
91.43 

 
110.41 

 
133.32 

South 
Gwynedd  

 

 
56.00 

 
66.31 

 
84.21 

 
97.81 

 
113.92 

 

Please note: that there is no 5 bedroom rate from 1 April 2011. See Changes to Housing 
Benefits for Private Tenants - April 2011  
 
To find out which BRMA you reside in, see the map(s) on our website at 
www.gwynedd.gov.uk/  or make inquiries at any of our benefit offices.  
 

 

 

Contact us if you think that your post code on any benefit letter or council tax bill from 
us is wrong as this could affect your Housing Benefit. There is no right of appeal against 
the BRMA or LHA rates used to calculate Housing Benefit, apart from those arising from 
errors. 

 


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	5 CARTREFI CYMUNEDOL GWYNEDD
	6 ON STREET ENFORCEMENT
	7 PLANNING AND THE WELSH LANGUAGE
	8 HOMELESSNESS SCRUTINY INVESTIGATION PROPOSALS
	Homelessness Scrutiny Investigation Report.pdf
	Appendix 1 'The Homelessness Budget' Article (blog).pdf
	Appendix 2 Housing Department Structure.pdf
	Appendix 3 Scenarios.pdf
	Appendix 4 Hostel Visits Arrangements.pdf
	Appendix 5 Hostel Visits Report.pdf
	Appendix 6 List of Officers.pdf
	Appendix 7 Equal Ground Standard - Updated Jan 2015.pdf
	Appendix 8 Gwynedd-Local-Housing-Allowance-Rates.pdf


